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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Fiscal Years Ended October 31

2002

2001 2000 1999

1998

Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales
Income from operations
Net income {loss)
Net income (loss) per share

Diluted

$793,976
122,715
71,565

$448,801
25,841
(8,580)

$364,001
33,309
6,417

$304,714
27,381
16,332

$ 023]|3% 079
0.23 0.76

$194,052
10,690
7,181

$ 049
0.42

As of October 31

2001 2000 1999

1998

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital
Total assets
Total debt
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity

NET SALES
(in thousands}

$108,369
197,453
492,960
136,518
356,442

$ 6056 | %
92,690
359,512
54,073
139,451
220,061

5,245
69,025
330,257
96,873
160,065
170,192

$ 10,374
41,439
231,712
56,137
146,609
85,103

$ 2,763
21,797
109,385
30,808
73,820
35,566

NET INCcaoME (LaOss)
(in thousands)

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(diluted)
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Fiscal 2002 was a year of remarkable achievement for Take-Two. We distinguished ourselves as a leader in

the interactive entertainment industry, becoming the number two independent software publisher. Take-Two

published several innovative titles that were on the “must-have” list of gamers and retailers alike. Market

demand for our products drove sharp increases in sales, earnings and cash flow, which resulted in the
continued strengthening of our balance sheet. Most importantly, we established a solid foundation for the
future by building enduring brand franchises, expanding our development resources, and investir;g in the
management and systems to support a growing company.

Net sales for fiscal 2002 were a record $794 million, rising 77% from the prior fiscal year. Net income
was $71.6 million or $1.81 per diluted share, compared to last year's net loss of $8.6 million or $0.25 per share.
Our publishing business accounted for 72% of fiscal 2002 net sales, up from 54% in 2001, while distribution
operations augmented our revenue stream and provided value-added services to a wide range of retailers.

The Company generated record operating cash flow of approximately $145 million and finished fiscal
2002 with a strong balance sheet. At October 31, 2002, we had working capital in excess of $197 million,
cash and equivalents of more than $108 million, and no borrowings under our credit line.

Powerhouse Portfolio. Take-Two gained substantial market share during fiscal 2002, rising to become
the number two publisher of PlayStation®2 software and the number two publisher for all console software
platforms, according to NPDFunworld®™ TRSTS Video Games Monthly Service. Our market share, for all
console software, rose dramatically from 2.5% in fiscal 2001 to 9.5% in fiscal 2002, according to NPDFunworld.
The phenomenal popularity of our Grand Theft Auto franchise was a major factor in this progress—Grand Theft
Auto 3 and Grand Theft Auto: Vice City were the top two selling games of the year. .

While Grand Theft Auto is often viewed as Take-Twao's "flagship,” it is only one component in a growing
product portfolio of great depth and longevity. Our portfolio includes such other successful brands as Max
Payne, Midnight Club, Mafia, Conflict: Desert Storm, State of Emergency, Smuggler's Run, Stronghold, Tropico,
Hidden & Dangerous, Railroad Tycoon and Spec Ops.

We are contiruing to expand this valuable portfolio, with nearly 40 SKUs in the pipeline for fiscal 2003,
Planned releases include: Midnight Club 2 for PlayStation®2, PC and Xbox; State of Emergency for Xbox;

Mafia for PlayStation®2 and Xbox; Vietcong for the PC; Grand Theft Auto: Vice City for the PC and Conflict:
Desert Storm for GameCube; and MTV's Celebrity Deathmatch on multiple platforms.

Other exciting new brands are expected to include: Great Escape, based on the hit 1963 movie about
POWs who escape from a Nazi prison camp; The Warriors™, inspired by the classic 1979 gritty gang drama and
sequels to our Grand Theft Auto and Max Payne franchises.

Building Brand Identity. Te clarify our brand positioning and extend our market reach, we established
the Gotham Games publishing label during 2002. Gotham Games' mission is to increase our presence in the
mass market by publishing products for consumers of all ages at a variety of price points, as well as value-priced
products for PlayStation® Gotham Games complements our Rockstar label, which will continue to be the gold
standard for groundbreaking original content for console systems; and Gathering, which will maintain its focus

on publishing compelling PC products.
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We also took significant steps during 2002 to increase our control of the intellectual property underlying
our products. Owning intellectual property, as opposed to licensing, can significantly expand the profit margin
on a particular title. For this reason, we acquired ownership of the Max Payne brand. We also expanded our
internal development capabilities by acquiring Angel Studios, which developed our hit titles Midnight Club and
Smuggler’s Run. Another key acquisition was Barking Dog, a Canadian studio known for its strength in the mili-
tary action genre, further expanding Rockstar's development resources.

Enhancing Infrastructure. Take-Two also made considerable progress “behind the scenes” during the
past year, adding resources to support our continued growth, Additions to the Board of Directors included
Todd Emmel, a senior financiel services industry executive; Steve Tisch, the Oscar Award winning producer and
noted entertainment figure; and Richard Roedel, a former Chairman of BDO Seidman, who chairs our Audit
Committee and qualifies as a “financial expert” as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our management team
was also expanded, particularly in the finance, operations and information technology areas.

On a personal note, | was extremely honored to be asked to join the Take-Two team early in fiscal 2003.
! accept’ed‘ the position of CEQ because | believe this is an extraordinary company with unparalleled opportu-
nities. In a relatively short time, Take-Two has become a recognized leader in the entertainment software
industry. We have potent brand franchises with enormous staying power. We have some of the most creative
development resources in the business and a commitment to making great games. Simply stated, we know

how to make the products that consumers want. Equally important, we have the financial base and manage-

ment infrastructure to support our plans for the future.

The prospects for our industry and our company are extremely favorable. Measured by annual revenues,
interactive entertainment software and hardware is a $10.3 billion business that rivals the movie box office
industry in scale. The number of current generation consoles in the United States alone is approximately 30
million units and the expected growth of this installed base should continue to drive software sales.

I believe Take-Two is well positioned—in terms of products, market focus, management resources and
financial strength—to benefit from the positive forces driving our business. We will continue to expand our
~US. and international publishing businesses by creating new, cutting edge brands, and when appropriate,
licensing intellectual property from third parties, including family and children’s properties. We will continue to
focus on increasing the top line and profitability of our distribution business by maximizing our product mix.
We will deploy our growing capital base for acquisitions when we believe shareholder value will be increased.
We will continue to enhance our systems and infrastructure to support the rapid growth of our Company.

The opportunities are many, and we intend to capitalize on them to the best of our abilities.
Thank you for your continued support and we look forward to sharing our success with you in the future.

Sincerely,

)

Jeffrey C. Lapin
Chief Executive Officer
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE

DPERATING CASH AND OPERATING

CaAasH FLaw EQUIVALENTS MARGIN
(in mitlions) (in millions) {percent)

$145.0
o~

Y

PUuBLISHING NET SALES WORLDWIDE NET SALES

BY PLATFORM BY REGIAN
(Fiscal Year 2002} (Fiscal Year 2002}

PlayStation 2 North America
73% 80%

PlayStation | PC

6% 14% Europe

189
Xbox 8%
5% Asia Pacific

& Other

Accessories 2%
23

& Other
2%
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Qur consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Consolidated Financial Statements (including the notes thereto)
contained elsewhere in this Report.

Fiscal Years Ended October 31

(In thousands, except per share data) 2002 2001(1) 2000 1999 1998(2)
Statement of Operations Data:
Netsales. .. ... . . . $793,976 | $448,801 | $364,001 | $304,714 | $194,052
Income from operations. . ... 122,715 25,841 33,309 27,381 10,690
Income (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle. .. ............ 71,565 (1,295) 6,417 16,332 7,181
Netincome {loss) .. ... .o 71,565 (8,580) 6,417 16,332 7,181
Net income (loss) per share
BasiC . o $ 188 % (025|% 0231% 079|% 049
Diluted ....... ... . 1.81 (0.25) 0.23 076 0.42
Net income (loss) per share attributable to
common stockholders—Diluted 3 .. .............. ... 1.81 (0.25) 0.23 0.76 0.37

As of October 31

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Balance Sheet Data: .
Cashand cashequivalents. .. ...................... ... $108,369 | $ 6056 | $ 52451 % 10374 | & 2,763
Working capital . ... . 197,453 92,690 692,025 41,439 21,797
Total assets. . ... .. 492,960 359,512 330,257 231,712 109,385
Totaldebt. ... .. . — 54,073 96,873 56,137 30,808
Total liabilities. . . ... ... .. . . . 136,518 139,451 160,065 146,609 73,820
Stockholders’ equity. ... oo 356,442 220,061 170,192 85,103 35,566

(1) Includes approximately $27 million of net sales, $8.9 million of income from operations and $5.3 million of income included in loss before
extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, representing the effect of the adoption of Staff Accounting
Bulletin 101, “Revenue Recognition” (SAB 101) in the first quarter of fiscal 2001. There was no impact on net loss.

{2) Net income in 1998 includes acquired S corporation net income of $1,233,000.

(3) Gives effect to distribution of $673,000 to S corporation shareholders prior to an acquisition in 1998.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC, and SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at

" the dates of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. The most significant estimates and assumptions
relate to the recoverability of prepaid royalties, capital-
ized software development costs and other intangibles,
inventories, realization of deferred income taxes and
the adequacy of allowances for returns, price protection
and doubtful accounts. Actual amounts could differ
significantly from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Our principal sources of revenues are derived from
publishing and distribution operations. Publishing rev-
enues are derived from the sale of internally developed
software titles or software titles licensed from third par-
ties. Distribution revenues are derived from the sale
of third-party software titles, hardware and accessories.
Publishing activities generally generate significantly
higher margins than distribution activities, with sales of
PC software titles resulting in higher margins than sales
of CDs or cartridges designed for video game consoles.

Effective November 1, 2000, in accordance with the
adoption of SAB 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements,” we recognize revenue net of allowances
for returns and price protection when title and risk of
loss pass to customers (generally, upon receipt of prod-
ucts by customers). Prior to that date, we recoegnized
revenue upon shipment. In accordance with Statement
of Position 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition,” we
recognize revenue when the price is fixed and deter-
minable, upon persuasive evidence of an agreement,
our fulfillment of our obligations under any such agree-
ment and a determination that collection is probable.
Our payment arrangements with customers provide
primarily 60 day terms and to a limited extent with
certain customers 30 or 90 day terms. We may not
have a reliable basis to estimate returns and allow-
ances for certain customers or may be unable to deter-
mine that collection of receivables is probable. In such
circumstances, we defer revenue at the time of sale
and recognize revenue when collection of the related
receivable becomes probable or cash is collected.

Returns and Reserves

We generally accept returns and grant price protec-
tion in connection with our publishing arrangements.
We establish a reserve for future returns of published
titles and price protection based primarily on historical
return rates, return policies and price protection policies,
and recognize revenue net of allowances for returns
and price protection. Our distribution arrangements
with customers generally do not give them the right
to return titles or to cancel firm orders. However, we
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sormetimes accept returns for stock balancing and nego-
tiate accommodations to customers, which includes
price discounts, credits and returns, when demand for
specific titles falls below expectations. The historical
product return rate for our distribution business has been
substantially less than for our publishing business. If
future returns significantly exceed established reserves,
our operating results would be adversely affected.

Prepaid Royalties

Our agreements with licensors and developers
generally provide us with exclusive publishing rights
and require us to make advance royalty payments that
are recouped against royalties due to the licensor or
developer based on product sales. Prepaid royalties
are amortized as cost of sales on a title-by-title basis
based on the greater of the proportion of current year
sales to total of current and estimated future sales for
that title or the contractual royalty rate based on actual
net product sales. We continually evaluate the recover-
ability of prepaid royalties and charge to cost of sales
the amount that management determines is probable
that will not be recouped at the contractual royalty rate
in the period in which such determination is made or
if we determine that we will cancel a development
project. Prepaid royalties are classified as current and
non-current assets based upon estimated net product
sales within the next year. See Note 2 to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

We capitalize internal software development costs
subsequent to establishing technological feasibility of a
title. Capitalized software development costs represent
the costs associated with the internal development of
our publishing products. Amortization of such costs as a
component of cost of sales is recorded on a title-by-title
basis based on the greater of the proportion of current
year sales to total of current and estimated future sales
for the title or the straight-line method over the remain-
ing estimated useful life of the title. We continually
evaluate the recoverability of capitalized software costs
and will charge to cost of sales any amounts that are
deemed unrecoverable or for projects that we will aban-
don. See Note 2 to Consolidated Financial Statements.

income Taxes

Income tax assets and liabilities are determined by
taxable jurisdiction. We do not provide taxes on undis-
tributed earnings of our international subsidiaries. The
total amount of undistributed earnings of foreign sub-
sidiaries for income tax purposes was approximately
$41,900 and $36,000 for the years ended October 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively. It is our intention to rein-
vest undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries
and thereby indefinitely postpone their remittance.
Accordingly, no provision has been made for foreign
withholding taxes or United States income taxes which
may become payable if undistributed earnings of for-
eign subsidiaries are paid as dividends to us.




Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2001, the Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board ("FASB”) Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF")
reached a consensus on EITF Issue 01-09, "Accounting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or
Reseller of the Vendor's Products,” which is a codification
of EITF 00-14, 00-22 and 00-25. This EITF presumes that
consideration from a vendor to a customer or reseller
of the vendor's products to be a reduction of the selling
prices of the vendor's products and, therefore, should
be characterized as a reduction of revenue when rec-
ognized in the vendor's income statement and could
lead to negative revenue under certain circumstances.
Revenue reduction is required unless consideration
relates to a separate identifiable benefit and the bene-
fit's fair value can be established. We have early adopted
EITF 01-09 effective November 1, 2001, The adoption
of the new standard did not have a material impact on
the consolidated financial statements. The prior period
financial statements have been reclassified in accord-
ance with this statement and as a result, net sales and
selling and marketing expenses have been reduced
by $2,255 for fiscal 2001, with no impact on reported
net loss.

Effective November 1, 2001, we adopted the provi-
sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141, “Business Combinations” {“SFAS 141") in
its entirety and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” ("SFAS 142"). SFAS 141 requires all business
combinations be accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting and that certain intangible assets
acquired in a business combination shall be recognized
as assets apart from goodwill. SFAS 142 addresses the
recognition and measurement of goodwill and other
intangible assets subsequent to their acquisition. SFAS
142 also addresses the initial recognition and measure-
ment of intangible assets acquired outside of a busi-
ness combination whether acquired individually or with
a group of other assets. This statement provides that
intangible assets with finite useful lives be amortized
and that intangible assets with indefinite lives and good-
will not be amortized, but be tested at least annually
for impairment. Upon completion of the transitional
impairment test, the fair value for each of our reporting
units exceeded the reporting unit’s carrying amount
and no impairment was indicated.

SFAS 142 requires an annual test for impairment of
goodwill, and between annual tests if events ocecur or
circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carry-
ing amount. In assessing potential impairment of good-
will, the Company determines the implied fair value of
each reporting unit using discounted cash flow analysis
and compares such values to the respective reporting
unit’s carrying amount. The Company performs its annual
test for indication of goodwill impairment in the fourth
quarter of each fiscal year. At October 31, 2002, the fair
value of the Company’s reporting units exceeded the
carrying amounts and no impairment was indicated.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth for the periods indi-
cated the percentage of net sales represented by cer-
tain items reflected in our statement of operations, and
sets forth net sales by territory, sales mix, platform and
principal products:

Fiscal Years Ended
October 31,

2002 | 2001 2000

Operating data:

Netsales...................... 100.0% | 100.0% | 100.0%
Cost of sales

Productcosts, ................ 51.5 63.2 59.6

Royalties ........... ... ...... 10.2 4.1 4.8

Software development costs . . . . 1.0 0.9 0.4

Total costof sales ... ........ 62.7 68.2 64.8

Selling and marketing. . ....... ... 9.8 1.8 1.8
General and administrative .. ... .. 9.0 10.0 10.0
Research and development ... .. .. 1.5 1.4 1.6
Depreciation and amortization. . . .. 1.5 2.8 24
Interest expense, net ............ 0.1 1.9 17
(Gain) loss on Internet securities . . . — 48 —
Provision (benefit) for income taxes. . 6.2 (0.5) Qa7
Extraordinary loss on early

extinguishment of debt . ..... .. - (0.4) —
Net income (loss) ............... 9.0 (1.9) 18

Net Sales by Territory:

North America. .. ............ .. 79.9% | 763%) 71.6%

International . ........... .. ... .. 201 237 284
Net Sales Mix:

Publishing..................... 71.5% 53.9%) 51.1%

Distribution .. .................. 28.5 461 489
Platform Mix (publishing):

Console. ...................... 83.9% | 57.5%| 50.6%

PC .. 14.3 357 369

Accessories and hand-held. .. ... .. 1.8 6.8 125

Principal Products:
Grand Theft Auto 3, PS2

(released October 2001). ... ... 30.0% 7.4% —%
Grand Theft Auto: Vice City, PS2

(released October 2002) . ... . ... 7.6 — —
Grand Theft Auto 3, PC

{released May 2002) ........... 3.1 — —
Max Payne, PS2

(released December 2001) ... . .. 6.7 — —
Max Payne, Xbox

(released December 2001) . ... .. 3.0 — —
Max Payne, PC

(released July 2001). .. ......... 0.4 52 —
State of Emergency, PS2

(released February 2002). ... . ... 4.4 — —
Midnight Club, PS2

(released October 2000). . ... ... 1.1 42 27
Smuggler’s Run, PS2

(released October 2000) . .. ... .. 0.3 3.0 33

Ten largest titles . ............... 59.9% | 31.4%| 16.4%

Business Acquisitions and Dispositions

In November 2002, we acquired all of the outstand-
ing capital stock of Angel Studios, Inc., the developer
of Midnight Club and Smuggler’s Run, for $28,500 in
cash and 235,679 shares of restricted common stock
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AND RESULTS DF OPERATIONS

TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

(valued at $6,557). We currently anticipate that this
acquisition will not have a significant effect on our fiscal
2003 operating results.

In August 2002, we acquired all of the outstanding
capital stock of Barking Dog Studios, a Canadian-based
development studio, for $3,000 in cash and 242,450
shares of restricted common stock (valued at $3,801).
The acquisition of Barking Dog did not have a signifi-
cant effect on our fiscal 2002 operating results.

In July 2001, we sold all of the outstanding capital
stock of Jack of All Games UK, a video game distributor,
to Jay Two Limited, an unaffiliated third party controlled
by Freightmasters Ltd., for approximately $215. In con-
nection with the sale, the purchaser assumed net liabili-
ties of $436. We recorded a gain on this sale of $651.
The sale of Jack of All Games UK did not have a signifi-
cant effect on our fiscal 2001 or 2002 operating results.

In July 2001, we acquired all of the outstanding
capital stock of Techcorp Limited, @ Hong Kong-based
design and engineering firm specializing in video game
accessories, for 30,000 shares of restricted common
stock (valued at $572) and $100 in cash. The acquisition
of Techcorp did not have a significant effect on our fis-
cal 2001 operating results.

In November 2000, we acquired all of the capital
stock of VLM Entertainment Group Inc., a third-party
video game distributor, for $2,000 in cash and 875,000
shares of common stock (valued at $8,039). VLM
accounted for 14.5% of our distribution revenues in
fiscal 2001,

In February 2000, we sold Falcon Ventures d/b/a
DVDWave.com, an online provider of music CDs, to
elniverse, Inc. and recorded a gain of $1,976. Falcon
Ventures accounted for an insignificant portion of our
revenues and accounted for an operating loss of
approximately $1,100 during fiscal 2000.

We sold Toga Holdings BV to Gameplay.com plc in
October 2000. During fiscal 2000, Toga's operations did
not contribute to our revenues and accounted for an
operating loss of approximately $1,500. We incurred a
loss of $286 in connection with the sale of Toga. In con-
nection with the sale of Toga, we entered into a Joint
Exploitation Agreement with Gameplay pursuant to
which we acquired Neo Software Produktions GMBH,

a software developer based in Austria. Neo Software
developed Max Payne for Microsoft's Xbox.

We purchased Toga, the parent of Pixel Broadband
Studios Ltd. in March 2000 as part of our Internet strat-
egy for $4,500 in cash and 2,561,000 shares of common
stock (valued at $35,578). Pixel had developed leading-
edge software technology, which enabled broadband
carriers to deliver persistent online gameplay via satel-
lite, cable and wireless communications devices. We
intended to combine Pixel's business with the gaming
content of our Rockstar video game publishing subsid-
iary with a view toward obtaining financing to operate
this business independently. Due to unfavorable market
conditions, we abandoned a propesed financing in
July 2000. We incurred a charge of $1,103 consisting
primarily of professional fees related to the abandoned
offering.
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We acquired PopTop Software, Inc., an independent
software developer, in July 2000 for 559,100 shares of
common stock {valued at $5,836). PopTop's operations
did not contribute to our revenues and its loss did not
significantly affect our net income during fiscal 2000.

in April 2000, we acquired the remaining 80.1% of
the stock of Gathering of Developers, Inc. that we
did not already own for 1,060,000 shares of common
stock {valued at $10,402). Prior to the acquisition, we
had a distribution and publishing arrangement with
Gathering under which we were entitled to receive a
distribution fee of 20% of net receipts derived from
sales of PC products. Products sold under this arrange-
ment accounted for approximately 6.3% of our net
sales and 18.0% of our net income for the year ended
October 31, 1999, and approximately 9.7% of our net
sales and 9.3% of our net income during fiscal 2000.

Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 2002 and 2001

Net Sales. Net sales increased by $345,175, or
76.9%, to $793,976 for fiscal 2002 from $448,801 for
fiscal 2001. The increase was primarily attributable to
growth in publishing operations. Included in net sales
for fiscal 2001 was $27,230 attributable to the adoption
of SAB 101. See Note 2 to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Publishing revenues increased by $326,251, or 134.9%,
to $568,089 for fiscal 2002 from $241,838 for fiscal 2001.
The increase was primarily attributable to the continued
strong sales of Grand Theft Auto 3 for PlayStation 2
and the release of Grand Theft Auto: Vice City for
PlayStation 2, Max Payne for PlayStation 2 and Xbox,
State of Emergency for PlayStation 2 and Grand Theft
Auto 3 for the PC. Publishing revenues represented
71.5% and 53.9% of net sales for fiscal 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Fiscal 2001 included $20,632 attributable
to the adoption of SAB 101,

Products designed for video game console platforms
accounted for 83.9% of fiscal 2002 publishing revenues
as compared to 57.5% for fiscal 2001. The increase
was primarily attributable to continued sales of Grand
Theft Auto 3 for PlayStation 2 and the release of Grand
Theft Auto: Vice City for PlayStation 2, Max Payne for
PlayStation 2 and Xbox and State of Emergency for
PlayStation 2. Products designed for the PC accounted
for approximately 14.3% of fiscal 2002 publishing
revenues as compared to 35.7% for fiscal 2001. The
decrease is a result of fewer PC titles released during
the current year.

Distribution revenues increased by $18,924, or 9.1%,
to $225,887 for fiscal 2002 from $206,963 for fiscal 2001.
The increase was primarily attributable to the commer-
cial introduction of Xbox and GameCube and the con-
tinued rollout of PlayStation 2 and the sale of software
for these console platforms. Distribution revenue repre-
sented 28.5% and 46.1% of net sales for fiscal 2002
and 2001, respectively. Fiscal 2001 included $6,598
attributable to the adoption of SAB 101.

International operations accounted for approxi-
mately $159,245, or 20.1% of net sales for fiscal 2002
compared to $106,566, or 23.7% for fiscal 2001. The




increase in absolute dollars was primarily attributable to
expanded publishing operations in Europe, including
the release of Max Payne and State of Emergency for
PlayStation 2, Grand Theft Auto 3 for the PC and con-
tinued sales of Grand Theft Auto 3 for PlayStation 2.
We expect that international sales will continue to
account for a significant portion of our revenue. Grand
Theft Auto: Vice City for PlayStation 2 was released in
November 2002 in international markets.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales increased by $191,678,
or 62.6%, to $497 942 for fiscal 2002 from $306,264 for
fiscal 2001. Cost of sales as a percentage of net sales
decreased to 62.7% for fiscal 2002 from 68.2% for
fiscal 2001.

Product costs increased $125,522, or 44.3%, to
$409,044 for fiscal 2002 from $283,522 from fiscal 2001,
but decreased as a percentage of net sales to 51.5%
for fiscal 2002 from 63.2% for fiscal 2001, The decrease
in cost of sales as a percentage of net sales was due
to the higher proportion of publishing revenues which
have lower product costs than distribution revenues,
partly offset by the shift in publishing product mix to
higher cost console titles from lower cost PC titles. Fiscal
2002 includes $3,064 of litigation settlement costs relat-
ing to a distribution agreement, while fiscal 2001 includes
an impairment charge of $3,397 relating to a reduction
in the value of certain acquired Internet assets. Product
costs in fiscal 2001 included $18,335 related to the
adoption of SAB 101.

Royalties increased $62,201, or 334.9%, to $80,774
for fiscal 2002 from $18,573 for fiscal 20071. Royalties as
a percentage of sales for fiscal 2002 increased to 10.2%
from 4.1% for fiscal 2001. The increases were due to
higher royalty payments and increased amortization of
prepaid royalties as a result of increased product sales,
principally for State of Emergency, Max Payne, Midnight
Club and Smuggler's Run. In addition, we wrote off
$14,122 of prepaid royalties, principally due to the
termination of several projects in 2002. We also imple-
mented a royalty program for certain of our develop-
ment personnel. We currently anticipate that this royalty
program will constitute a significant expense in the
foreseeable future.

Software development costs increased $3,955, or
94.9%, to $8,124 for fiscal 2002 from $4,169 for fiscal
2001. Software development costs as a percentage of
net sales remained relatively constant from year to
year. The increase in absolute dollars reflects higher
amortization principally related to the Grand Theft Auto
titles. These software development costs relate to our
internally developed titles.

In future periods, cost of sales may be adversely
affected by manufacturing and other costs, price com-
petition and by changes in product and sales mix and
distribution channels.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing
expenses increased by $24,992, or 47.2%, to $77,9%0
for fiscal 2002 from $52,998 for fiscal 2001. The increase
was attributable to television and other advertising
expenses relating to Grand Theft Auto 3, Max Payne,
Grand Theft Auto: Vice City and Conflict Desert Storm

during fiscal 2002. Selling and marketing expenses as a
percentage of net sales declined to 9.8% for fiscal 2002
from 11.8% for fiscal 2001.

General and Administrative. General and admin-
istrative expenses increased by $26,677, or 59.5%,
to $71,544 for fiscal 2002 from $44,867 for fiscal 2001.
General and administrative expenses as a percentage
of net sales declined to 9.0% for fiscal 2002 from 10.0%
for fiscal 2001. The increase in absolute dollars was
attributable to increased personnel expenses primarily
relating to salaries of additional executive, financial,
accounting and information technology personnel and
legal and professional fees incurred in connection with
legal proceedings and regulatory matters and litigation
settlement costs relating to a distribution arrangement.

Research and Development. Research and devel-
opment costs increased by $5,334, or 86.2%, to $11,524
for fiscal 2002 from $6,190 for fiscal 2001, Research
and development costs as a percentage of net sales
remained relatively constant from year to year. The
increase in absolute dollars was attributable to bonus
compensation, increased staffing levels and the acqui-
sition of Barking Dog. Once software development
projects reach technological feasibility, which is rela-
tively early in the process, a substantial portion of our
research and development costs are capitalized and
subsequently amortized as cost of goods sold.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation
and amortization expense of $12,261 for fiscal 2002
decreased $380, or 3.0%, from $12,641 for fiscal 2001.
The decrease was due to our adoption of SFAS 142,
and was partly offset by increased costs related to the
implementation of a new accounting software system
and amortization related to the Max Payne acquisition.
Depreciation and amortization expense costs as a per-
centage of net sales decreased to 1.5% for fiscal 2002
from 2.8% for fiscal 2001.

Income from Operations. Income from operations
increased by $96,874, or 374.9%, to $122,715 for fiscal
2002 from $25,841 for fiscal 2001, due to the changes
referred to above.

Interest Expense, net. Interest expense decreased
by $8,030, or 94.4%, to $480 for fiscal 2002 from $8,510
for fiscal 2001. The decrease was attributable to sub-
stantially lower levels of borrowing from our credit
facilities and interest income earned on invested cash.

Gain on Sale of Subsidiary. We recorded a non-
operating gain on the sale of our Jack of All Games
UK subsidiary during fiscal 2001.

(Gain) Loss on Internet Investments. For fiscal
2002, we recognized a gain of $181 from the sale of
marketable securities. During fiscal 2001, we incurred
an impairment charge of $21,477 relating primarily to
our investments in Gameplay and eUniverse to reflect
other than temporary declines in the value of these
investments.

Class Action Settlement Costs. During fiscal 2002,
we recorded $1,468 of class action settlement costs,
which represents a settlement of $7,500 and related
legal fees, net of $6,145 of insurance proceeds.
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Provision for income Taxes. We incurred income
tax expense of $49,383 for fiscal 2002 as compared to
a benefit of $2,200 for fiscal 2001. The increase was pri-
marily attributable to increased taxable income. The
difference between the statutory rate and the effective
rates of 40.8% and (62.9%) for fiscal 2002 and 2001,
respectively, primarily is the result of state and foreign
tax rate differentials and non-deductible items, such as
amortization of intangibles.

At October 31, 2002, we had capital loss carryfor-
wards totaling approximately $21,000. The capital Joss
carryforwards expire in fiscal 2006. Failure to achieve
sufficient levels of taxable income from capital transac-
tions might affect the ultimate realization of the capital
loss carryforwards. i this were to occur, management is
committed to implementing tax planning strategies,
such as the sale of our net appreciated assets to the
extent required (if any) to generate sufficient taxable
income prior to the expiration of these benefits.

Extraordinary Loss on Early Extinguishment of
Debt. During fiscal 2001, we incurred an extraordinary
charge of $1,948, net of taxes, upon the early repay-
ment of $15,000 of subordinated indebtedness.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting
Principle. In connection with the adoption of SAB 101,
we recognized a cumulative effect of $5,337, net of
taxes of $3,558, in fiscal 2001.

Net Income. For fiscal 2002, we achieved net
income of $71,565, as compared to net loss of $8,580
for fiscal 2001. ’

Fiscal Years Ended October 31, 2001 and 2000

Net Sales. Net sales increased by $84,800, or 23.3%,
to $448,801 for fiscal 2001 from $364,001 for fiscal 2000.
The increase was attributable to growth in both pub-
lishing and distribution operations and acquisitions.
The adoption of SAB 101 effective November 2000 to
recognize revenue when both title and all risks of loss
pass to customers resulted in an increase in net sales
of $27,230. Fiscal 2000 sales that were previously recog-
nized upon product shipment were effectively reversed
with the adoption of SAB 101 and reported upon
receipt by the customer as sales in the first quarter of
fiscal 2001. in fiscal 2001, we implemented changes to
our practices to significantly reduce shipment time near
quarter and year end.

Publishing revenues increased by $55,720, or 29.9%,
to $241,838 for fiscal 2001 from $186,118 for fiscal 2000.
The increase was primarily attributable to the release
of Grand Theft Auto 3 for PlayStation 2 and Max Payne
for the PC, and included $20,632 resulting from the
adoption of SAB 101, Publishing activities accounted
for approximately 53.9% of net sales in fiscal 2001,

In fiscal 2001, software titles designed for PC plat-
forms accounted for approximately 35.7% of publishing
revenues as compared to 36.9% in the prior year. Soft-
ware titles designed for video game console platforms
accounted for 57.5% of publishing revenues as com-
pared to 50.6% in the prior year. We expect that sales
of video game console titles will continue to account
for an increasing portion of our publishing revenues.
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Distribution revenues increased by $29,080, or 16.3%,
to $206,963 for fiscal 2001 from $177,883 for fiscal 2000.
The increase was attributable to the continued rollout
of Sony’s PlayStation 2, and included $6,598 relating to
the adoption of SAB 101. VLM Entertainment Group,
which was acquired in November 2000, accounted for
14.5% of our distribution revenues in fiscal 2001. In fiscal
2001, distribution activities accounted for approximately
46.1% of net sales, with video game hardware and
peripherals accounting for 20.1% of net sales.

International operations accounted for approximately
$106,566, or 23.7%, of net sales in fiscal 2001 compared
to $103,315, or 28.4%, in fiscal 2000. The percentage
decrease was attributable to the growth in our North
American operations. In recent periods, we placed
increasing emphasis on expanding publishing activities
in Europe, and we sold our Jack of All Games UK dis-
tribution subsidiary in July 2001.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales increased by $70,286,
or 29.8%, to $306,264 for fiscal 2001 from $235,978
for fiscal 2000. Cost of sales as a percentage of net
sales increased to 68.2% for fiscal 2001 from 64.8%
for fiscal 2000.

Product costs increased $66,345, or 30.5%, to
$283,522 for fiscal 2001 from $217,177 for fiscal 2000,
and increased as a percentage of net sales to 63.2%
for fiscal 2001 from 59.6% for fiscal 2000. The increases
reflect higher production costs associated with the
development of next-generation software titles and the
shift in publishing product mix to higher cost console
titles from lower cost PC titles. The 2001 period includes
a non-cash impairment charge of $3,397 relating to a
reduction in the value of certain Internet assets. Product
costs in fiscal 2001 included $18,335 related to the
adoption of SAB 101.

Royalties increased $1,223, or 7.0%, to $18,573 for
fiscal 2001 from $17,350 from the comparable period
in the prior year. Royalties as a percentage of sales for
fiscal 2001 decreased to 4.1% from 4.8% for the compa-
rable pericd in 2000. The increase in absolute dollars
was due to higher amortization and write-downs. The
decrease in royalties as a percentage of net sales was
due primarily to sales of internally developed products.

Software development costs increased $2,718, or
187.3%, to $4,169 for fiscal 2001 from $1,451 for fiscal
2000. Software development costs as a percentage of
net sales increased to 0.9% in fiscal 2001 from 0.4% in
fiscal 2000. The increases reflect higher amortization
due to sales of internally developed titles and the 2001
write-down of $389 relating to impairment in the value
of certain Internet assets.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing
expenses increased by $10,144, or 23.7%, to $52,998
for fiscal 2001 from $42,854 for fiscal 2000. The increase
was primarily attributable to increased advertising
activities relating to our new releases in 2001. Selling
and marketing expenses as a percentage of net sales
remained constant from year to year.

General and Administrative. General and administra-
tive expenses increased by $8,458, or 23.2%, to $44,867
for fiscal 2001 from $36,409 for fiscal 2000. General




and administrative expenses as a percentage of net
sales remained constant from year to year at 10.0%. The
increase in absolute dollars was attributable to increased
salaries and rent necessary to support our expanded
operations and increased bad debt expenses.

Research and Development. Research and devel-
opment costs increased by $522, or 9.2%, to $6,190
for fiscal 2001 from $5,668 for fiscal 2000. Research
and development costs as a percentage of net sales
remained relatively constant from year to year.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and
amortization expense increased by $3,961, or 45.6%,
to $12,641 for fiscal 2001 from $8,680 for fiscal 2000.
Depreciation and amortization expense as a percent-
age of net sales increased to 2.8% for fiscal 2001 from
2.4% for fiscal 2000. The increases were attributable to
amortization of intangible assets as a result of business
acguisitions offset by the impact of sales of businesses
made in fiscal 2000 and fiscal 2001.

Income from Operations. Income from operations
decreased by $7,468, or 22.4%, to $25,841 for fiscal 2001
from $33,309 for fiscal 2000 due to the changes referred
to above.

Interest Expense, net. Interest expense increased
by $2,441, or 40.2%, to $8,510 for fiscal 2001 from $6,069
for fiscal 2000. The increase was attributable to higher
levels of borrowings during 2001. Interest expense as a
percentage of net sales remained relatively constant
from year to year.

Gain on Sale of Subsidiary. We sold Jack of All
Games UK in July 2001 and recorded a gain on sale of
$651. Fiscal 2000 includes a gain of $1,976 relating to
the sale of Falcon Ventures, partly offset by a $286 loss
relating to the sale of Toga Holdings.

(Gain) Loss on Internet Investments. We incurred
non-cash impairment charges of $21,477 during fiscal
2001 relating to our internet related investments to
reflect other than temporary declines in the value of
such investments.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense decreased by
$4,744 for fiscal 2001 from fiscal 2000. The decrease was
attributable to tax losses in fiscal 2001 compared to tax-
able income in fiscal 2000. We recorded an income tax
benefit of $2,200 for fiscal 2001 compared to an income
tax provision of $2,544 for fiscal 2000. The difference
between the statutory and effective tax rate in 2001 and
2000 of (62.9%}) and 28.4%, respectively, is the result of
state and foreign tax rate differentials partially offset by
non-deductible items, such as amortization of goodwill
and intangible assets.

Extraordinary Loss on Early Extinguishment of
Debt. We incurred an extraordinary charge of $1,948,
net of taxes of $1,217, upon the early extinguishment
of debt of $15,000 in July 2001.

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting
Principle. In connection with our adoption of SAB 101,
we recognized a cumulative effect of $5,337, net of
taxes of $3,558.

Net income (Loss). As a result of the foregoing, for
fiscal 2001, we incurred a net loss of $8,580 as com-
pared to net income of $6,417 for fiscal 2000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary cash requirements have been and will
continue to be to fund developing, manufacturing,
publishing and distributing our products. We have his-
torically satisfied our working capital requirements pri-
marily through cash flow from operations, the issuance
of equity securities and bank borrowings. At October 31,
2002, we had working capital of $197,453 as compared
to working capital of $92,690 at October 31, 2001.
~ Our cash and cash equivalents increased $102,313
to $108,369 at October 31, 2002, from $6,056 at
October 31, 2001. The increase is primarily attributable
to $144,998 of cash provided by operating activities,
partly offset by $18,084 used in investing activities and
by $31,988 used in financing activities.

Net cash provided by operating activities for fiscal
2002 was $144,998 compared to $27,319 of cash pro-
vided for fiscal 2001 and $54,230 of cash used in oper-
ating activities for fiscal 2000. The increase in cash
provided was primarily attributable to increased net
income in 2002 and our focus on working capital man-
agement in both fiscal 2002 and 2001. The increase
in cash provided from operations for fiscal 2002 was
also attributable to increases in accounts payable and
accrued expenses, partly offset by increased levels
of inventories, prepaid expenses and accounts receiv-
able. In fiscal 2000, we invested substantial funds in
our next-generation entertainment software publishing
subsidiaries and products. We believe that such invest-
ments will continue to be reflected in future cash flow
from operations.

Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2002
was $18,084 as compared to net cash used in investing
activities of $13,479 for fiscal 2001 and $12,906 in fiscal
2000. The increase in 2002 is primarily attributable to
the acquisition of the Max Payne intangible assets and
the Barking Dog development studio and increased
expenditures for fixed assets. Net cash used in investing
activities in 2001 related primarily to the purchase of
fixed assets and to a lesser extent acquisitions. Net cash
used in investing activities in 2000 related primarily to
acquisitions.

Net cash used in financing activities for fiscal 2002
was $31,988, as compared to net cash used in financing
activities of $11,790 for fiscal 2001 and net cash provided
by financing activities of $70,535 for fiscal 2000. The
increase in net cash used in financing activities for fiscal
2002 was primarily attributable to the absence of private
placement proceeds this year and the repayment of
indebtedness. Net cash used in fiscal 2001 refated pri-
marily to the repayment of indebtedness offset by pro-
ceeds from equity offerings and the exercise of stock
options and warrants. Net cash provided by financing
activities in fiscal 2000 was primarily due to proceeds
from borrowings and equity offerings.

In December 1999, we entered into a credit agree-
ment, as amended and restated in August 2002, with
a group of lenders led by Bank of America, N.A., as
agent. The agreement provides for borrowings of up to
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$40,000 through the expiration of the line of credit on
August 28, 2005. Generally, advances under the line of
credit are based on a borrowing formula equal to 75%
of eligible accounts receivable plus 35% of eligible
inventory. Interest accrues on such advances at the
bank's prime rate plus 0.25% to 1.25%, or at LIBOR plus
2.25% to 2.75% depending on our consolidated lever-
age ratio (as defined). We are required to pay a com-
mitment fee to the bank equal to 0.5% of the unused
loan balance. Borrowings under the line of credit are
collateralized by our accounts receivable, inventory,
equipment, general intangibles, securities and other
personal property, including the capital stock of our
domestic subsidiaries. Borrowings under the agreement
are reduced by the amount of outstanding letters of
credit, which were $5,546 at October 31, 2002. The
loan agreement contains certain financial and other
covenants, including the maintenance of consolidated
net worth, consolidated leverage ratio and consolidated
fixed charge coverage ratio. As of October 31, 2002,
we were in compliance with such covenants. The loan
agreement limits or prohibits us from dectaring or
paying cash dividends, merging or consolidating with
another corporation, selling assets (other than in the
ordinary course of business), creating liens and incur-
ring additional indebtedness. We had no outstanding
borrowings under the revolving line of credit as of
October 31, 2002.

In February 2001, our United Kingdom subsidiary
entered into a credit facility agreement, as amended in
March 2002, with Lloyds TSB Bank plc (“Lloyds”) under
which Lloyds agreed tc make available borrowings of
up to approximately $20,500. Advances under the credit
facility bear interest at the rate of 1.25% per annum over
the bank's base rate, and are guaranteed by us. Borrow-
ings under the agreement are reduced by the amount
of outstanding guarantees, which were $235 at October
31, 2002. The facility expires on March 31, 2004. We
had no outstanding borrowings under this facility as of
October 31, 2002.

For fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, we received proceeds
of $23,308, $22,931 and $6,921, respectively, relating to
the exercise of stock options and warrants.

In July 2000, we entered into a subordinated loan
agreement with Finova Mezzanine Capital under which
we borrowed $15,000, evidenced by a five-year promis-
sory note bearing interest at a rate of 12.5% per annum,
payable monthly. In connection with the loan, we issued
to Finova warrants to purchase 451,747 shares of com-
mon stock at an exercise price of $11.875 per share.

We incurred an extraordinary charge of $1,948, net of
taxes, upon the early repayment of this indebtedness
in July 2001.

In November 2002, we acquired all of the outstand-
ing capital stock of Angel Studios, Inc. for $28,500 in
cash and 235,679 shares of restricted common stock
(valued at $6,557).

Qur accounts receivable, less an allowance for
doubtful accounts, returns and price protection at
October 31, 2002 was $108,441. Of such receivables,
two retail customers, Wal-Mart and Best Buy, accounted
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for 13.7% and 10.0%, respectively, of the receivable bal-
ance at October 31, 2002. Most of our receivables are
covered by insurance, with certain limits, in the event

of a customer’s bankruptcy or insolvency. Generally,

we have been able to coliect our receivables in the ordi-
nary course of business. We do not hold any collateral
to secure payment from customers. As a result, we are
subject to credit risks, particularly in the event that any
of the receivables represent a limited number of retailers
or are concentrated in foreign markets. If we are unable
to collect our accounts receivable as they become due
and such accounts are not covered by insurance, we
could be required to increase our allowance for doubt-
ful accounts, which could adversely affect our liquidity
and working capital position. We had accounts receiv-
able days outstanding of 45 days for the three months
ended October 31, 2002, as compared to 70 days for
the three months ended October 31, 2001.

In September 2002, we relocated our principal exec-
utive offices to 622 Broadway, New York, New York.
We estimate that we will incur approximately $4,000
in capital expenditures for renovations and leasehold
improvements. In connection with signing a ten-year
lease, we provided a standby letter of credit of $1,560,
expiring December 31, 2003. As a result of the reloca-
tion, during fiscal 2002, we recorded expenses of $514
related to lease costs with regard to our former execu-
tive offices. In addition, we expect to spend approxi-
mately $2,000 in connection with the implementation
of accounting software systems in our international
operations. We have no other material commitments
for capital expenditures.

We may continue to incur significant legal, accounting
and other professional fees and expenses in connection
with pending regulatory matters.

Based on our currently proposed operating plans
and assumptions, we believe that projected cash flow
from operations and available cash resources, including
amounts available under our lines of credit, will be suffi-
cient to satisfy our cash requirements for the reasonably
foreseeable future.

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities
and Commitments

Qur offices and warehouse facilities are occupied
under non-cancelable operating leases expiring at
various times from January 2003 to October 2011,

We also lease certain furniture, equipment and auto-
mobiles under non-cancelable leases expiring through
July 2005. Qur future minimum rental payments for the
year ending October 31, 2003 are $6,318 and aggregate
minimum rental payments through applicable ease
expirations are.$33,789.

During fiscal 2002, we entered into distribution
agreements under which we purchase various software
games. These agreements, which expire between
April 1, 2003 and September 30, 2004, require minimum
guaranteed aggregate payments of $13,595 at October
31, 2002. These agreements are collateralized by standby
letters of credit of $3,986 at October 31, 2002. Addition-
ally, assuming performance by third-party developers,




we have outstanding commitments under various soft-
ware development agreements to pay developers an
aggregate of $19,129 during fiscal 2003.

In connection with our acquisition of the publishing
rights to the franchise of Duke Nukem PC and video
games in December 2000, we are contingently obli-
gated to pay $6,000 in cash upon delivery of the final
version of Duke Nukem Forever for the PC. In addition,
in connection with our acquisition of the Max Payne
product franchise, we are contingently liable to make
aggregate payments of up to $8,000 in cash upon the
timely delivery of the final version of Max Payne 2 for
the PC and the achievement of certain sales targets for
such product. The payables will be recorded when the
contingencies are resolved.

Fluctuations in Operating Results and Seasonality

We have experienced fluctuations in quarterly oper-
ating results as a result of the timing of the introduction
of new titles; variations in sales of titles developed for
particular platforms; market acceptance of our titles;
development and promotional expenses relating to
the introduction of new titles, sequels or enhancements
of existing titles; projected and actual changes in plat-
forms; the timing and success of title introductions by
our competitors; product returns; changes in pricing
policies by us and our competitors; the accuracy of
retailers’ forecasts of consumer demand; the size and
timing of acquisitions; the timing of orders from major
customers; and order cancellations and delays in prod-
uct shipment. Sales of our titles are also seasonal, with
peak shipments typically occurring in the fourth calen-
dar quarter {our fourth and first fiscal quarters) as a
result of increased demand for titles during the holiday
season. Quarterly comparisons of operating results are
not necessarily indicative of future operating results.

International Operations

Sales in international markets, principally in the
United Kingdom and other countries in Europe, have
accounted for a significant portion of our net sales.
For fiscal 2002 and 2001, sales in international markets
accounted for approximately 20.1% and 23.7%, respec-
tively, of our net sales. We are subject to risks inherent
in foreign trade, including increased credit risks, tariffs
and duties, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates, shipping delays and international political, regu-
latory and economic developments, all of which can
have a significant impact on our operating results.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accounting
for Obligations Associated with the Retirement of Long-
Lived Assets” (“SFAS 143"). The objective of SFAS 143
is to provide accounting guidance for legal obligations
associated with the retirement of long-lived assets. The
retirement obligations included within the scope of this
pronouncement are those that an entity cannot avoid as

a result of either the acquisition, construction or normal
operation of a long-lived asset. Components of larger
systems also fall under this pronouncement, as well as
tangible long-lived assets with indeterminable lives. The
provisions of SFAS 143 are effective for financial state-
ments issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002. We are currently evaluating the expected impact
of the adoption of SFAS 143 on our financial condition,
cash flows and results of operations. We will adopt the
standard in the first quarter of fiscal 2003.

In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
("SFAS 144"). The objectives of SFAS 144 are to address
significant issues relating to the implementation of
SFAS 121 and to develop a single accounting model,
based on the framework established in SFAS 121, for
the long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, whether
previously held and used or newly acquired. The provi-
sions of SFAS 144 are effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2001. We are currently evaluating the expected impact
of the adoption of SFAS 144 on our financial condition
and results of operations. We will adopt the standard
in the first quarter of fiscal 2003.

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 145, “Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment to FASB
Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections” ("SFAS
145"). SFAS 145 eliminates the requirement (in SFAS
No. 4) that gains and losses from the extinguishments
of debt be aggregated and classified as extraordinary
items, net of the related income tax. The rescission of
SFAS No. 4 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
May 15, 2002, which for us would be November 1, 2002.
Upon adoption, the $1,948 loss on extinguishment of
debt that was previously classified as an extracrdinary
item will be reclassified to non-operating expenses.

We do not expect that the rescission of SFAS No. 4 will
have a material impact on our financial condition, cash
flows or results of operations.

In July 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 144, "Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” ("SFAS
146"). SFAS 146 requires the recognition of such costs
when they are incurred rather than at the date of a
commitment to an exit or disposal plan. The provisions
of SFAS 146 are to be applied prospectively to exit or
disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002.
We are currently evaluating the expected impact of the
adoption of SFAS 146 on our financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations.

Cautionary Statement and Risk Factors

Safe Harbor Statement under the Securities Litiga-
tion Reform Act of 1995: We make statements in this
report that are considered forward-looking statements
under federal securities laws. Such forward-looking
statements are based on the beliefs of management as
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well as assumptions made by and information currently
available to them. The words "expect,” "anticipate,”
"believe,” "may,” "estimate,” “intend” and similar
expressions are intended to identify such forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions including,
but not limited to, the following which could cause
our actual results, performance or achievements to
be materially different from results, performance or
achievements, expressed or implied by such forward-
Jooking statements:

The market for interactive entertainment software
titles is characterized by short product life cycles. The
interactive entertainment software market is character-
ized by short product life cycles and frequent introduc-
tion of new products. New products introduced by
us may not achieve significant market acceptance or
achieve sufficient sales to permit us to recover develop-
ment, manufacturing and associated costs. Historically,
few interactive entertainment software products have
achieved sustained market acceptance. Even the most
successful titles remain popular for only limited periods
of time, often less than six months. The life cycle of
a game generally consists of a relatively high level of
sales during the first few months after introduction
followed by a decline in sales. Because revenues asso-
ciated with the initial shipments of a new product gen-
erally constitute a high percentage of the total revenues
associated with the life of a product, any delay in the
introduction of one or more new products could harm
our operating results. Additionally, because we intro-
duce a relatively limited number of new products in a
given period, the failure of one or more of our products
to achieve market acceptance could result in losses.

A significant portion of our revenues is derived
from a limited number of titles. Our ten best selling
titles accounted for approximately 59.9% of our revenues
for the year ended October 31, 2002, with Grand Theft
Auto 3 for PlayStation 2 accounting for 30.0% of our
revenues, Grand Theft Auto: Vice City for PlayStation 2
accounting for 7.6% of our revenues and Max Payne for
PlayStation 2 accounting for 6.7% of our revenues. Our
ten best selling titles accounted for approximately 31.4%
of our revenues for the year ended October 31, 2001.
For this period, Grand Theft Auto 3 for PlayStation 2
accounted for 7.4% of our revenues; Midnight Club
for PlayStation 2 accounted for 4.2% of our revenues;
Smuggler's Run for PlayStation 2 accounted for 3.0%
of our revenues; and Max Payne for PC accounted for
5.2% of our revenues, with each of the next three titles
accounting for between 1.9% and 3.0% of our revenues.
Our ten best selling titles accounted for 16.4% of our
revenues for the year ended October 31, 2000. Each of
Grand Theft Auto, Midnight Club and the Smuggler’s
Run titles accounted for approximately 3.0% of our
revenues for the year ended October 31, 2000, with
each of the next four titles accounting for between 1.2%
and 2.3% of our revenues. Qur future titles may not be
commercially viable. If we fail to continue to develop
and sell new, commercially successful titles, our rev-
enues and profits may decrease substantially and we
may incur losses.
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Our quarterly operating results may vary signifi-
cantly, which could cause our stock price to decline.
We have experienced and may continue to experience
wide fluctuations in quarterly operating results. The
interactive entertainment industry is highly seasonal, with
sales typically higher during the fourth and first calendar
guarters, due primarily to the increased demand for
games during and immediately following the holiday
buying season. Our failure or inability to introduce
products on a timely basis to meet seasonal fluctuations
in demand will harm our business and operating results.
These fluctuations could also cause our stock price to
decline. Other factors that cause fluctuations include:

® delays in the introduction of new titles;

® the size and timing of product and corporate
acquisitions;

® variations in sales of titles designed to operate on
particular platforms;

2 development and promotional expenses relating to
the introduction of new titles;

sequels or enhancements of existing titles;
availability of hardware platforms;

the timing and success of title introductions by our
competitors;

product returns;

the accuracy of retailers’ forecasts of consumer
demand; and

® the timing of orders from major customers.

Our expense levels are based, in part, on our expec-
tations regarding future sales and therefore our oper-
ating results would be harmed by a decrease in sales or
a failure to meet our sales expectations. The uncertain-
ties associated with interactive entertainment software
development, lengthy manufacturing lead times, pro-
duction delays and the approval process for products
by hardware manufacturers and other licensors make it
difficult to predict the quarter in which our products will
ship and therefore may cause us to fail to meet financial
expectations. In future quarters our operating results
may fall below the expectations of securities analysts
and investors. In this event, the trading price of our
common stock could significantly decline.

The interactive entertainment software industry
is cyclical, and we may fail to anticipate changing
consumer preferences. Our business is subject to all
of the risks generally associated with the interactive
entertainment software industry, which has been cyclical
in nature and has been characterized by periods of sig-
nificant growth followed by rapid declines. Our future
operating results will depend on numerous factors
beyond our control, including:

~ ® the popularity, price and timing of new software and

hardware platforms being released and distributed
by us and our competitors;

E international, national and regional economic con-
ditions, particularly economic conditions adversely
affecting discretionary consumer spending;

B changes in consumer demographics;




the availability of other forms of entertainment; and

critical reviews and public tastes and preferences, all
of which change rapidly and cannot be predicted.

In order to plan for acquisition and promotional
activities we must anticipate and respond to rapid
changes in consumer tastes and preferences. A decline
in the popularity of interactive entertainment software
or particular platforms could cause sales of our titles
to decline dramatically. The period of time necessary
to develop new game titles, obtain approvals of manu-
facturers and produce CD-ROMs or game cartridges is
unpredictable. During this period, consumer appeal of a
particular title may decrease, causing sales to decline.

Rapidly changing technology and platform shifts
could hurt our operating results. The interactive enter-
tainment industry in general is associated with rapidly
changing technology, which often leads to software
and platform obsolescence and significant price ercsion
over the life of a product. The introduction of new plat-
forms and technologies can render existing software
titles obsolete or unmarketable. As more advanced
" platforms achieve market acceptance, consumer demand
for software for older platforms declines. Obsolescence
of software or platforms could leave us with increased
inventories of unsold titles and limited amounts of new
titles to sell to consumers, which would have a material
adverse effect on our operating results.

We are devoting development resources primarily
on products designed for Sony's PlayStation 2 and
Microsoft's Xbox. If consumer demand for these platforms
declines as a result of the next hardware transition cycle,
we may experience lower than expected sales or {osses
from products designed for these platforms,

A number of software publishers who compete with
us have developed or are currently developing soft-
ware for use by consumers over the Internet. Future
increases in the availability of such software or tech-
nological advances in such software or the Internet
could result in a decline in platform-based software
and impact our sales. Direct sales of software by major
manufacturers over the Internet would materially
adversely affect our distribution business.

Our business is dependent on licensing and pub-
lishing arrangements with third parties. Our success
depends on our ability to identify and develop new
titles on a timely basis. We have entered into agree-
ments with third parties to acquire the rights to pub-
lish and distribute interactive entertainment software.
These agresments typically require us to make advance
payments, pay royalties and satisfy other conditions.
Qur advance payments may not be sufficient to permit
developers to develop new software successfully. In
addition, software development costs, promotion and
marketing expenses and royalties payable to software
developers have increased significantly in recent years
and reduce the potential profits derived from sales of
our software. Future sales of our titles may not be suf-
ficient to recover advances to software developers,
and we may not have adequate financial and other

resources to satisfy our contractual commitments. If
we fail to satisfy our obligations under these ficense
agreements, the agreements may be terminated or
medified in ways that may be burdensome to us.

Returns of our published titles and markdown
allowances may adversely affect our operating results.
We are exposed to the risk of product returns and mark-
down allowances with respect to our customers. Qur
distribution arrangements with customers generally
do not give them the right to return titles to us or to
cancel firm orders; however, at our discretion, we may
accept product returns for stock balancing or defective
products. In addition, we sometimes negotiate accom-
modations to customers, including price discounts,
credits and product returns, when demand for specific
products falls below expectations. We generally accept
returns and grant price protection in connection with
our publishing arrangements. We establish a reserve for
future returns and markdown allowances for published
titles based primarily on these return policies and his-
torical return rates, and we report our revenues net of
returns, If return rates and markdown allowances for our
published titles significantly exceed our reserves, our
revenues will decline and we could incur losses.

The interactive entertainment software industry is
highly competitive. We compete for both licenses to
properties and the sale of interactive entertainment
software with Sony, Microsoft and Nintendo, each of
which is a large developer and marketer of software
for its own platforms. Each of these competitors has
the financial resources to withstand significant price
competition and to implement extensive advertising
campaigns, particularly for prime-time television spots.
These companies may also increase their own software
development efforts or focus on developing software
products for third-party platforms. We also compete
with domestic and internationa!l companies, large soft-
ware companies and media companies. Some of our
competitors have greater financial, technical, personnel
and other resources than we do, and are able to carry
larger inventories, adopt more aggressive pricing poli-
cies and make higher offers to licensors and developers
for commercially desirable properties than we can. Our
titles also compete with other forms of entertainment
such as motion pictures, television and audio and video
products featuring similar themes, online computer pro-
grams and forms of entertainment which may be less
expensive or provide other advantages to consumers.

Our distribution business also operates in a highly
competitive environment. The intense competition that
characterizes our industry is based primarily on breadth,
availability and quality of product lines; price; terms and
conditions of sale; credit terms and availability; speed
and accuracy of delivery; and effectiveness of sales and
marketing programs. Our competitors include regional,
national and international distributors, as well as hard-
ware manufacturers and software publishers. We may
lose market share or be forced in the future to reduce
our prices in response to the actions of our competitors,
and thereby experience a reduction in our gross margins.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIESE OF FINANECIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amaounts)

increased competition for limited shelf space and
promotional support from retailers could affect the
success of our business and require us to incur greater
expenses to market our titles. Retailers have limited
shelf space and promctional resources, and competi-
tion is intense among an increasing number of newly
introduced interactive entertainment software titles
for adequate levels of shelf space and promotional
support. Competition for retail shelf space is expected
to increase, which may require us to increase our mar-
keting expenditures just to maintain current levels of
sales of our titles. Competitors with more extensive
lines and popular titles frequently have greater bar-
gaining power with retailers. Accordingly, we may not
be able to achieve the fevels of promotional support
and shelf space that such competitors receive.

Rating systems for interactive entertainment soft-
ware, potential legislation and consumer opposition
could inhibit sales of our products. Trade organizations
within the video game industry require interactive enter-
tainment software publishers to provide consumers with
information relating to graphic violence, profanity or
sexually explicit mate-ial contained in software titles.
Certain countries have also established similar rating
systems as prerequisites for sales of interactive enter-
tainment software in such countries. In some instances,
we may be required to modify our products to comply
with the requirements of such governmental entities,
which could delay the release of those products in such
countries. We believe that we comply with such rating
systems and properly display the ratings received for
our titles.

Historically, our software titles received a rating
of “E” (age 6 and older) or “T" {age 13 and over),
although many of our new titles (including Grand Theft
Auto 3, Grand Theft Auto: Vice City, Max Payne and
State of Emergency) have received a rating of "M"

(age 17 and over). Certain retailers may decline to sell
interactive entertainment software containing graphic
violence or sexually explicit material, which may limit
the potential market for our "M" rated products.

Several proposals have been made for federal
legislation to regulate the interactive entertainment
software, motion picture and recording industries,
including a proposal to adopt a common rating system
for interactive entertainment software, television and
music containing viclence and sexually explicit material,
and the Federal Trade Commission has adopted rules
with respect to the marketing of such material to minors.
Consumer advocacy groups have also opposed sales
of interactive entertainment software containing graphic
violence and sexually explicit material by pressing for
legistation in these areas and by engaging in public
demonstrations and media campaigns. If any groups
were to target our "M" rated titles, we might be
required to significantly change or discontinue a par-

" ticular title, which in the case of our best selling titles
could hurt our business.

We cannot publish our console titles without the
approval of hardware manufacturers. We are required
to obtain a license to develop and publish titles for
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each hardware platform for which we develop and
publish titles. Our existing hardware console platform
licenses require that we obtain approval for the publi-
cation of new titles on a title-by-title basis. As a result,
the number of titles we are able to publish for these
hardware platforms, along with our ability to time the
release of these titles and, accordingly, our revenues
from titles for these hardware platforms, may be limited.
If any manufacturer chooses not to renew or extend our
license agreement at the end of its current term, or if
the manufacturer were to terminate our license for any
reason, we would be unable to publish additional titles
for that manufacturer's hardware platform.

License agreements relating to these rights generally
extend for a term of three years. The agreements are
terminable upon the occurrence of a number of factors,
including: (1) breach of the agreement by us; (2) our
bankruptcy or insolvency; or (3) our entry into a relation-
ship with, or acquisition by, a competitor of the manu-
facturer. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
obtain new or maintain existing licenses on acceptable
terms, or at all.

We zare dependent upon a license agreement with
Sony to publish titles for PlayStation 2. The term of
the license agreement expires in March 2003 and is
automatically extended, unless terminated by one of
the parties, for additional successive one-year terms.
Termination of such agreement would seriously hurt
our business.

Sony and Nintendo are the sole manufacturers of
the titles we publish under license from them. Games
for the Xbox must be manufactured by pre-approved
manufacturers. Each platform license provides that the
manufacturer may raise prices for the titles at any time
and grants the manufacturer substantial control over the
release of new titles. Each of these manufacturers also
publishes software for its own platforms and manufac-
tures titles for all of its other licensees and may choose
to give priority to its own titles or those of other pub-
lishers if it has insufficient manufacturing capacity or if
there is increased demand.

In addition, these manufacturers may not have suf-
ficient production capacity to satisfy our scheduling
requirements during any period of sustained demand.
If manufacturers do not supply us with finished titles
on favorable terms without delays, our operations
would be materially interrupted, and we would be
unable to obtain sufficient amounts of our product to
sell to our customers. if we cannot obtain sufficient
product amounts, our revenues will decline and we
could incur losses.

We may not be able to protect our proprietary
rights or avoid claims that we infringe on the propri-
etary rights of others. We develop proprietary software
and have obtained the rights to publish and distribute
software developed by third parties. We attempt to
protect our software and production techniques under
copyright, trademark and trade secret laws as well as
through contractual restrictions on disclosure, copying
and distribution. Interactive entertainment software is
susceptible to unauthorized copying. Unauthorized third




parties may be able to copy or to reverse engineer our
software to obtain and use programming or production
techniques that we regard as proprietary.

As the amount of interactive entertainment software
titles in the market increases and the functionality of
this software further overlaps, we believe that interac-
tive entertainment software will increasingly become
the subject of claims that such software infringes the
copyrights or patents of others. From time to time, we
receive natices from third parties alleging infringement
of their proprietary rights. Although we believe that
our software and technologies and the software and
technologies of third-party developers and publishers
with whom we have contractual relations do not and will
not infringe or violate proprietary rights of others, it is
possible that infringement of proprietary rights of others
has or may occur. Any claims of infringement, with or
without merit, could be time-consuming, costly and
difficult to defend. Intellectual property litigation or
claims could require us to discontinue the distribution
of products, obtain a license or redesign our products,
which could result in additional costs and delays.

We are dependent on third-party software devel-
opers to complete certain of our titles. We rely on
third-party software developers for the development
of certain of our titles. Quality third-party developers
are continually in high demand. Software developers
who have developed titles for us in the past may not be
available to develop software for us in the future. Due
to the limited number of third-party software develop-
ers and the limited control that we exercise over them,
these developers may not be able to complete titles
for us on a timely basis or within acceptable quality
standards, if at all.

We depend on third-party software developers
and our internal development studios to develop new
interactive entertainment software within anticipated
release schedules and cost projections. In addition,
the development cycle for new titles is long, typically
ranging from twelve to twenty-four months. After devel-
opment of a product, it may take between six to twelve
additional months to develop the product for other
hardware platforms. If developers experience financial
difficulties, additional costs or unanticipated devel-
opment delays, we will not be able to release titles
according to our schedule.

Our software is susceptible to errors, which can
harm our financial results and reputation. The techno-
logical advancements of new hardware platforms aflow
more complex software products. As software products
become more complex, the risk of undetected errors
in products when first introduced increases. lf, despite
testing, errors are found in new products or releases
after shipments have been made, we could experience
a loss of or delay in timely market acceptance, product
returns, foss of revenues and damage to our reputation.

Gross margins relating to our distribution business
have been historically narrow which increases the
impact of variations in costs on our operating results.
As a result of intense price competition in the console
hardware and software distribution industry, our gross

margins in our distribution business have historically
been narrow and we expect them to continue to be nar-
row in the future. We receive purchase discounts from
suppliers based on various factors, including volume
purchases. These purchase discounts directly affect our
gross margins. It may become more difficult for us to
achieve the percentage growth in sales required to
continue to receive volume purchase discounts.

We may not be able to adequately adjust our cost
structure in a timely fashion in response to a sudden
decrease in demand. A significant portion of our selling
and general and administrative expense is comprised
of personnel and facilities. In the event of a significant
decline in revenues, we may not be able 1o exit facilities,
reduce personnel, or make other significant changes to
our cost structure without significant disruption to our
operations or without significant termination and exit
costs, Management may not be able to implement such
actions, if at all, in a timely manner to offset an immedi-
ate shortfall in revenues and gross profit.

Our distribution business is dependent on suppliers
to maintain an adequate supply of products to fulfill
customer orders on a timely basis. Our ability to obtain
particular products in required quantities and to fulfill
customer orders on a timely basis is critical to our suc-
cess. In most cases, we have no guaranteed price or
delivery agreements with suppliers. In certain product
categories, limited price protection or return rights
offered by manufacturers may have a bearing on the
amount of product we may be willing to purchase.

The console hardware industry experiences significant
product supply shortages from time to time due to
the inability of certain manufacturers to supply certain
products on a timely basis. As a result, we have experi-
enced, and may in the future continue to experience,
short-term hardwere inventory shortages. In addition,
manufacturers who currently distribute their products
through us may decide to distribute, or to substantially
increase their existing distribution, through other dis-
tributors, or directly to retailers.

We are subject to the risk that our inventory values
may decline and protective terms under supplier
arrangements may not adequately cover the decline
in values. The interactive entertainment software and
hardware industry is subject to rapid technological
change, new and enhanced generations of products,
and evolving industry standards. These changes may
cause inventory to decline substantially in vaiue or to
become obsolete. We are also exposed to inventory
risk to the extent that supplier price protections are
not available on all products or quantities and are
subject to time restrictions. In addition, suppliers
may become insolvent and unable to fulfill price
protection obligations.

A limited number of customers may account for a
significant portion of our sales. Sales to our five largest
customers accounted for approximately 31.4% of our
revenues for the year ended October 31, 2002, 21.0%
of our revenues for the year ended October 31, 2007,
and 22.7% of our revenues for the year ended October
31, 2000. Our sales are made primarily pursuant to
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purchase orders without long-term agreements or
other commitments. Our customers may terminate their
relationship with us at eny time. The loss of our relation-
ships with principal customers or & decline in sales to
principal customers could harm our operating results.
Bankruptcies or consolidations of certain large retail
customers could also hurt our business.

We are subject to credit and collection risks. Our
sales are typically made on credit, with terms that vary
depending upon the customer and the demand for
the particular title being sold. We do not hold any col-
lateral to secure payment by our customers. As a result,
we are subject to credit risks, particularly in the event
that any of our receivables represent sales to a limited
number of retailers or are concentrated in foreign
markets. If we are unable to collect on accounts receiv-
able as they become due and such accounts are not
covered by insurance, it could adversely affect our
financial condition.

We are subject to risks and uncertainties of inter-
national trade. Sales in international markets, primarily
in the United Kingdom and other countries in Europe
and the Pacific Rim, have accounted for a significant
portion of our revenues. Sales in international markets
accounted for approximately 20.1% of our revenues
for the year ended October 31, 2002, 23.7% of our rev-
enues for the year ended October 31, 2001 and 28.4%
of our revenues for the year ended October 31, 2000.
We are subject to risks inherent in foreign trade, includ-
ing increased credit risks; tariffs and duties; fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates; shipping delays; and
international political, regulatory and economic devel-
opments, all of which can have a significant impact on
our operating results. All of our international sales are
made in local currencies.

We depend on skilled personnel. Our success
depends on our ability to identify, hire and retain qual-
ified management, creative, development, financial,
marketing, sales and technical personnel. If we are
unable to continue to attract and retain skilled person-
nel, our business and prospects would be negatively
affected.

The market price for our common stock may be
highly volatile. The market price of our common stock
has been and may continue to be highly volatile.
Factors such as our operating results, announcements
by us or our competitors and various factors affecting
the interactive entertainment software industry may
have a significant impact on the market price of our
common stock.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk

We are subject to market risks in the ordinary course
of our business, primarily risks associated with interest
rate and foreign currency fluctuations and possible
impairment of the carrying values of our investments.

Historically, fluctuations in interest rates have not

" had a significant impact on our operating results. At

October 31, 2002, we had no outstanding variable rate
indebtedness.

We transact business in foreign currencies and are
exposed to risks resulting from fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates. Accounts relating to foreign
operations are translated into United States dollars using
prevailing exchange rates at the relevant fiscal quarter
or year end. Transfation adjustments are included as a
separate component of stockholders’ equity. For the
year ended October 31, 2002, our foreign currency trans-
lation adjustment gain was $5,553. Foreign exchange
transaction gain for the year ended October 31, 2002
was $840. A hypothetical 10% change in applicable cur-
rency exchange rates at October 31, 2002 would result
in a material translation adjustment.

In addition, we may be exposed to risk of loss asso-
ciated with fluctuations in the value of our investments.
Our investments are stated at fair value, with net unreal-
ized appreciation and loss included as a separate com-
ponent of stockholders’ equity. We regularly review
the carrying values of our investments to identify and
record impairment losses when events or circumstances
indicate that such investments may be permanently
impaired.

At October 31, 2002, we held 6,869,407 shares of
common stock of Gameplay.com plc with a fair value of
approximately $97 and that is classified as a non-current
asset. We recorded an unrealized loss of $14, net of
taxes of $9, as a separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’
equity. For the year ended October 31, 2001, we
recorded a loss of $19,171 to reflect the other than
temporary impairment of our investments relating
to Gameplay.




TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
CONSDOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)}
October 31,
2002 2001

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents. .. ... ... $108,369 | $ 4,056

Accounts receivable, net of provision for doubtful accounts and sales allowances

of $27,941 and $26,106 at October 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively ............... 108,441 94,950
INVENTOIIES .o e 74,391 61,937
Prepaid royalties. . . ... .o e 13,723 21,892
Prepaid expenses and other current @ssets. . .. ... .. o 19,569 14,008
IV ESIMENTS. . . — 6,241
Deferred tax @sset ... ... it 5,392 22,251

Total current @assets. . ... .o 329,885 227,335
Fixed @ssets, Net. . ... oo 15,319 11,033
Prepaid royalties. .. ... ... e 12,203 11,097
Capitalized software development costs, net. . .............. ... ... ... ... 10,385 9,739
VSIS, . . e 97 75
Goodwill, met . 61,529 56,033
fntangibles, net. . ... 55,293 34,337
Deferredtaxasset . ............ ... .] e 7,983 7,946
Other assets, Nt ... ... . 266 1,917
Total @SSEtS . . o $492,960 | $359,512
LIABILITIES and STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable. ... $ 79,660 | $ 60,223
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . ... ... ... 51,074 20,250
Income taxes payable ... ... .. L 1,603 —
Lines of credit, cUrmrent POTLION. . ..o o et i —_ 54,073
Current portion of capital lease obligation .. ................ ... ... ... ... ... 95 99
Total current liabilities. . ... ... 132,432 134,645
Capital lease obligation, net of currentportion ... ........ ... . . 201 291
Deferred tax liability. . . ... 3,885 4,515
Total liabilities . . . ... 136,518 139,451
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; 50,000,000 shares authorized;

40,361,739 and 36,640,972 shares issued and outstanding at October 317,

2002 and 2001, respectively ... ... L e 404 366
Additional paid-in capital. . .. ... 273,502 213,908
Deferred compensation . .. ... o o (227) —
Retained earnings .. ... ... . 87,804 16,239
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .. ... ... ... ... . (5,041) (10,452

Total stockholders’ equity. .. ..ot e 356,442 220,061
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ... ... ... . o $492,960 | $359,512

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC, and SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Netsales ... e $793,976 | $448,801 | $364,001
Cost of sales
Product CoSts . .. oot 409,044 283,522 217,177
Royalties. . . 80,774 18,573 17,350
Software development costs . . ... . v 8,124 4,169 1,451
Totalcostofsales. .. ... ... .. .. 497,942 306,264 235,978
Gross profit. .. ... 296,034 142,537 128,023
Operating expenses
Sellingand marketing .. ... . . 77,990 52,998 42,854
General and administrative . .. ... 71,544 44 867 36,409
Research and development. . ... ... ... ... . 11,524 6,190 5,668
Depreciation and amortization ... ... ... . o 12,261 12,641 8,680
Abandoned offering costs. ... ... . — — 1,103
Total operating expenses. . ... ..o 173,319 116,696 94,714
Income from operations. . .. .. ... . o 122,715 25,841 33,309
Interast expense, Net. .. ... .. 480 8,510 6,069
Gainonsale ofsubsidiary ... ... ... — 651) (1,690)
(Gain) loss on Internetinvestments. . ............ .. ... (181) 21,477 —
Class action settlement costs . ... ... it 1,468 — —
Equity inlessof affiliate. ... ... ... o — — 19,969
Total non-operating expPenses . . . ... v vt i e 1,767 29,336 24,348
Income (loss) before income taxes, extraordinary loss and
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. . ..... ... .. 120,948 (3,495) 8,961
Provision (benefit) for incometaxes .. ... ... ... . o 49,383 (2,200) 2,544
Income (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle ... ... . oo oL 71,565 {1,295) 6,417
Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt, net of taxes of $1,217 . .. — 1,948 —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxes of $3,558 . . — 5,337 —
Netincome (Ioss) . .. ... $ 71,565 | $ (8580) | $ 6,417
Per share data:
Basic:
Weighted average common shares outstanding . ................... 38,030 33,961 27,307
fncome (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle pershare. .. ..... .. ... .. ... .. $ 188 | $§ (04| $ 023
Extraordinary foss pershare. . ... ... — (0.06) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share. ... ... .. — (0.16) —
Net income (loss) per share—Basic. . ........ .. ..o o $ 188 | $ (025|$ 023
Diluted:
Weighted average common shares outstanding . ............. .. ..., 39,570 33,961 28,330
Income (loss) before extraordinary loss end cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle pershare. .. ................... $ 181 |$ (004 | $ 023
Extraordinary fosspershare. . ... ... . o o — (0.06) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share. . ..... .. — |- (0.16) —
Net income (loss) per share—Diluted .. ... ......... ... .. .......... $ 1.81 $ 025 (% 023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

CONSDOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{in thousands)

Years Ended October 37,

2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (0S5). . . ..ot $ 71,565 | $ (8580) | $ 6,417
Adjustment to reconcile net income {loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . ............... ... 12,261 12,641 8,680
Loss on disposal of fixed assets ........... ... ... oL 126 219 239
Gainonsale ofsubsidiary .. ... ..o — (657) (1,690)
(Gain) loss on Internet investments . . ... ... ... e {181) 21,477 —
Impairment charge on Internetassets. . ................ . ... ... ... — 4,187 —
Stock received in consideration of license revenues . ....... ... ... .. — — (1,710)
Equity inloss of affiliate. . ............ .. ..o oo — — 19,969
Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt, net of taxes ... ... — 1,948 —
Provision (benefit) for deferredtaxes ... ..... ... .. ... .. ... .. ... .. 6,702 (8,307) (1,301
Provision for doubtful accounts and sales allowances .. ............. 1,835 14,491 3,722
Amortization and write-off of intellectual property. . ............. ... 4,069 399 —
Write-off of prepaid royalties and capitalized software .. ............ 14,613 1,324 501
Amortization of deferred financingcosts . ............ ... . 762 769 396
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options . ................... ... 10,700 — —
Issuance of compensatory stock and stock options ... ........ ..., . 3,052 5 98
Other .o (840) 108 9
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
{Increase) decrease in accountsreceivable. . ... .. .. .. L (11,556) 7,325 (6,467)
Increase N INVENTOrES . . . . ot (12,852) (4,034) (12,507)
Increase in prepaid royelties ... ... ... Lo (6,823) (9,254) (17,413)
Increase in prepaid expenses and other currentassets ... .......... ... (3,034) (4,509) (4,009)
Increase in capitalized software development costs. . .............. ... (895) (3,059) (7.386)
Decrease (increase) in other non-currentassets. . .. .................. 257 (455) (1,428)
Increase {decrease) in accounts payable. . ... ... . oL 23,019 1,51 (28,680)
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other current liabilities. . . . .. 30,615 (236) (11,668)
Increase in income taxes payable . ... ... ... o oL 1,603 — —
Net cash provided by {used in) operating activities .. ....... .. .... 144,998 27,319 (54,230)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of fixed assets .. ... .. . . . . (10,466) (8,568) {2,881)
Sale (purchase) of investments .. ... ... . ... o 6,170 — (4,122)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired . ... .. .. .. ... (3,788) (1,769 (4,294
Acguisition of intangible assets ... ... ... o {10,000) (3,105) —
Proceeds from disposal of business ... ... ... oo oo oL — 215 —
Additional cash paid for prior acquisition. . .............. ... ... L — (252) (1,609)
Net cash used in investing activities . ... ............. .. ....... (18,084) (13,479 (12,906)
Continued
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SCFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(In thousands)

Years Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from private placements . . ............ ... o $ — | $20,892 | $21,285
Net (repayments) borrowings under lines of credit ... ............ ... ... (54,284) | (40,545) 28,557
(Repayment) proceeds from loan payable . ......... ... .. .. .. L. — {15,000 15,000
Repaymentof notepayable .. ... .. ... L — — (89)
Deferred financing Costs . . ... oo (918) — (1,029)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants .. ............. ... 23,308 22,931 6,921
Repayment of capitel lease obligation............ ... ... ... .. ...... (94) (68) (110)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities. . .......... .. (31,988) (11,790) 70,535
Effect of foreign exchangerates. . ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... 7,387 (1,239) (8,528)
Net increase (decrease) in cash for the period .. ........... .. .. 102,313 811 (5,129
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period. .. ................... 6,056 5,245 10,374
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period . .. ........ .. ... . ... ... ... $108,369 | $ 6,056 | § 5245
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activities:
lssuance of commor stock in connection with acquisitions. .. .. .. ... ... $ 22,344 | $13,981 | $55.261
Equipment acquired under capital lease .. ....... ... ... .. L. $ — | $ 21 | $ 140
Supplemental information on intangibles and businesses acquired:
Fair value of assets acquired
Cash . . e $ 37 $ 331 $ 144
Current @ssets .. ... 36 10,417 247
Non-current @ssets. . ... . . e 67 770 138
Investment (including prepaid purchase price forNeo). . ............ .. — — 48,385
Intangible assets .. ... . 30,849 18,253 13,238
Goodwill. ... 5,496 24,181 9,672
Less, liabilities assumed
Current liabilities . . . ... . (210) (25,809) (3,171}
Stock, warrants ard other consideration. .. ... ... .. ... . (22,344) (25,877) (54,816)
Options issued. . . ... .o — — (1,750)
Disposal adjustment .. ... ... ... .. — (3,279)
Direct transaction COStS . . . o oo oot oo (106) (166) (400)
investment interest and purchase option . . ......... ... ... L. — — (3,964)
Cash paid. ... 13,825 2,100 4 458
Less cash acquired. . ... .. . o (37) (331 (164)
Netcashpaid ... ..o $ 13,788 | § 1,769 | § 4,294
Supplemental information on businesses disposed:
CUITENT @SSBTS .« . o vt et e e e e e e e e $ — 1% (318 | $ @57
Non-current @ssets. . . ... .. — — (553)
Current liabilities . . .. .. . — 754 235
Net liabilities (assets) disposed. . .. ... ... ... ... . . ... — 436 (775)
Consideration received for businesses disposed:
Stock .. — — 2,751
Cash . — 215 —
Gainonsale. . ... $ — 1% 5| % (1,976
Cash paid during the year forinterest . ........ ... . i $ 1,513 | $ 8284 | § 5944
Cash paid duringthe yearfortaxes . .. ... ... v $ 30,045 | $ 9973 | § 4,030

The supplemental information on business acquired and disposed for the year ended October 31, 2000 are net of the Toga acquisition and
disposal (See Note 3).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS DF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended October 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002
(In thousands)

Accumulated

Common Stock Add?tiona\ Deferred Other
—_— T Paid-in  Compen- Retained Comprehensive
Shares  Amount Capital sation Earnings  Income (Loss) Total
Balance, November 1,1999 . ... ....... 2308 $231 $ 67345 $ (48) % 18,402 $ (827) $ 85103
Foreign currency translation acjustment .. — — — — — (9,014) 9,014)
Net unrealized income on investments,
netof taxesof $1,736 ............. .. — — — — — (2,831 (2,831)
Netloss............................ — — — — 6,417 — 6417
Comprehensive {loss). .. ........... (5,428)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
andwarrants .. ... . ... ... 1,373 13 6,963 — — — 6,976
Amortization of deferred compensation . . — — — 43 — - 43
Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisitions . ........ ... .. ... 4,222 43 55,218 — — — 55,261
Issuance of common stock in connection
with private placements, net of
ISSUANCE COSES . . oo e 2,422 24 21,261 — — — 21,285
Issuance of warrant in connection with
adebtfinancing. ............ .. ... — — 2,927 — — - 2,927
Issuance of common stock in lieu
of repayment of debt assumed
fromPixel....... ... ... .. ... .. 168 2 2,528 — — — 2,530
Retirement of commonstock .. ......... (98) n {1,249) — — — (1,250)
Tax benefit in connection with the
exercise of stock options. . .. ...... ... — —_— 2,745 — — — 2,745
Batance, October 31,2000 ........... .. 31,173 312 157,738 (5) 24,819 (12,672 170,192
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . — — — — — (767) (767)
Net unrealized income on investments,
netof taxesof $1832 .. .. ... .. .. ..., — — — — — 2,987 2,987
Netloss........... oo iin. — — — — (8,580) — (8,580)
Comprehensive (loss). ............. (6,360)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
andwarrants ..., ... ... ... 3,266 32 22,582 — — — 22,614
Amortization of deferred compensation .. — — — 5 — — 5
Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisitions ... L 1,466 14 13,967 — — — 13,981
Issuance of common stock in connection
with private placements, net of
iSSUANCE COSIS ...\ vt 1,300 13 20,879 — — — 20,892
Retirement of commonstock ........... (564) (5) (7,305) — — — (7,310)
Tax benefit in connection with the
exercise of stock options. ... ....... .. — — 6,047 — — — 6,047
Balance, October 31,2001 ............. 36,641 366 213,908 — 16,239 (10,452) 220,061
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . — — — — — 5953 5,553
Net unrealized income on investments,
netoftaxesof $87....... ... ... ... — — — — — (142) (142)
Netincome ......................... — — — — 71,565 — 71,565
Comprehensive income. .. .. ... ..., 76,976
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
andwarrants . ... ... . 2,434 25 23,283 — — — 23,308
Amortization of deferred compensation . . — - — 682 — — 682
Deferred compensation in connection
with restricted stock issued . ... ... .. .. 50 1 908 (909) — - —
Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisitions ... ... oL 1,212 12 22,332 — — —_ 22,344
Issuance of compensatory stock and
stockoptions. . ..., oL 25 — 2,371 — — — 2,371
Tax benefit in connection with the
exercise of stock options. .. ... .. .. — — 10,700 — — — 10,700
Balance, October 31, 2002. .. ... ... .. 40,362 %404  $273,502  $(227) $87.,804 $(5,041) $356,442

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc. (the "Company”)
was incorporated in the State of Delaware in September
1993. The Company develops interactive software games
designed for PCs and video game console platforms
and publishes games developed internally and by third
parties. The Company also distributes games for video
game consoles published by third parties, as well as
hardware and accessories manufactured by third parties.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its wholly
owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain amounts in the financial statements of the
prior years have been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation for comparative purposes.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the dates of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. The most significant estimates and assumptions
relate to the recoverability of prepaid royalties, capital-
ized software development costs and other intangibles,
inventories, realization of deferred income taxes and
the adeguacy of allowances for returns, price protection
and doubtful accounts. Actual amounts could differ
significantly from these estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

A significant portion of the Company's cash balance
is maintained with several major financial institutions.
While the Company attempts to limit credit exposure
with any single institution, there are times that balances
will exceed insurable amounts.

If the financial condition and operations of the
Company's customers deteriorate, the risk of collection
could increase substantially. As of October 31, 2002 and
2001, the receivable balances from the Company's five
largest customers amounted to approximately 42.4%
and 40.4% of the Company's net receivable balance,
respectively, with two customers representing 13.7%
and 10.0% at October 31, 2002 and two customers
representing 11.6% and 10.3% at October 31, 2001. For
the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, the
Company’s five largest customers accounted for 31.4%,
21.0%, and 22.7% of net sales, respectively. Except for
the largest customers noted above, all receivable bal-
ances from the remaining individual customers were
less than 10% of the Company's net receivable balance.
The Company maintains insurance, to the extent avail-
able, on the receivable balances, with certain limits, in
the event of a customer's bankruptcy or insclvency.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANDCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollfars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue Recognition

Publishing revenue is derived from the sale of inter-
nally developed interactive software titles or from the
sale of titles licensed from & third-party developer.
Publishing revenue amounted to $568,08%, $241,838
and $186,118 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Distribution revenue is derived from the sale
of third-party interactive software titles, hardware
and accessories, Distribution revenue amounted to
$225,887, $206,963 and $177,883 for 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance
with Statement of Position ("SOP") 97-2, "Software
Revenue Recognition,” as amended by SOP 98-9,
"Modification of SOP 97-2 Software Revenue Recog-
nition With Respect to Certain Transactions.” SOP 97-2
provides guidance on applying generally accepted
accounting principles in recognizing revenue on soft-
ware transactions. SOP 98-9 deals with the determina-
tion of vendor specific objective evidence of fair value
in multiple element arrangements, such as maintenance
agreements sold in conjunction with software packages.
The Company's transactions generally include only one
element, the interactive software game. The Company
recognizes revenue when the price is fixed and deter-
minable, there is persuasive evidence of an arrange-
ment, the fulfiliment of its obligations under any such
arrangement and determination that collection is prob-
able. Accordingly, revenue is recognized when title and
all risks of loss are transferred to the customer, which
is generally upon receipt. The Company's payment
arrangements with its customers provide primarily
60 day terms and to a limited extent with certain
customers 30 or 90 day terms.

The Company's distribution arrangements with
customers generally do not give customers the right
to return products; however, the Company at its discre-
tion may accept product returns for stock balancing
or defective products. In addition, the Company some-
times negotiates accommodations to customers, includ-
ing price discounts, credits and product returns, when
demand for specific products falls below expectations.
The Company generally accepts returns and grants price
protection in connection with its publishing arrange-
ments. The Company establishes a reserve for future
returns and other allowances based primarily on its
return policies, price protection and historical return
rates. The Company may not have a reliable basis to
estimate returns and allowances for certain customers
or it may be unable to determine that collection of
the receivable is probable. In such circumstances, the
Company defers the revenues at the time of the sale
and recognizes them when collection of the related
receivable becomes probable or cash is received.

Effective Navember 1, 2000, the Company adopted
Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements.” Consistent with
the guidelines provided in SAB 107, the Company
changed its revenue recognition policy to recognize
revenue as noted above. Prior to the adoption of SAB
101, the Company recognized revenue upon shipment.




As a result of adopting SAB 101, net sales and cost of
sales of approximately $27.2 million and $18.3 million,
respectively, which were originally recognized in the
year ended October 31, 2000 were also recognized in
the year ended October 31, 2001. The cumulative effect
of the application of the revenue recognition policies
set forth in SAB 101 for the year ended October 31,
2001 was approximately $5.3 million, net of tax benefit
of approximately $3.6 million, or $0.16 per share. Had
the Company adopted SAB 101 as of the beginning

of fiscal 2000, the unaudited pro forma net sales, net
income and diluted earnings per share for the year
ended October 31, 2000 would have been approxi-
mately $345 million, $4.6 million and $0.16, respectively.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred.
The Company shares portions of certain customers’
advertising expenses through co-op advertising arrange-
ments. Co-op advertising allowances provided to
customers are recognized at the time the revenue is
recognized. Advertising expense for the years ended
October 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 amounted to $39,909,
$22,983 and $16,769, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments
purchased with original maturities of three months or
less to be cash equivalents.

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or
market. The Company periodically evaluates the carry-
ing value of its inventories and makes adjustments as
necessary. Reserves for product returns are included in
the inventory balance.

Prepaid Royalties

The Company’s agreements with licensors and
developers generally provide it with exclusive publishing
rights and require it to make advance royalty payments
that are recouped against royalties due to the developer
based on product sales. Prepaid royalties are amortized
as cost of sales on a title-by-title basis based on the
greater of the proportion of current year sales to total
of current and estimated future sales for that title or the
contractual royalty rate based on actual net product
sales. The Company continually evaluates the recover-
ability of prepaid royalties and charges to cost of sales
the amount that management determines is probable
that will not be recouped at the contractual royalty rate
in the period in which such determination is made or if
the Company determines that it will cancel a develop-
ment project. Included in prepaid royalties at October
31, 2002 and 2001, respectively are $22,561 and $13,811
related to titles that have not been released yet. Prepaid
royalties are classified as current and non-current assets
based upon estimated net product sales within the next
year. During the fiscal year 2000, prepaid royalties were
written down by $501 and the amortization of prepaid
royalties amounted to $16,849.

The following table provides the details of total pre-
paid royalties:
Year Ended October 31,

2002 2001
Beginning balance .............. $32,989 $ 24,591
Additions. .. ... ... 26,301 25,928
Amortization ........ ... .. ... .. {20,588) {16,550)
Reclassification . ........ ........ 1,419 —
Write-down . ... ... ... ... ... {14,122) (975)
Foreignexchange . ........... ... (73) 5
Ending balance .. ....... .. oL 25,926 32,989
Less current balance .. ........... 13,723 21,892
Non-current balance . ... ......... $12,203 $ 11,097

Capitalized Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes internal software devel-
opment costs, as well as film production and other con-
tent costs, subsequent to establishing technological
feasibility of a title. Capitalized software development
costs represent the costs associated with the internal
development of the Company’s publishing products.
Amortization of such costs as a component of cost of
sales is recorded on a title-by-titie basis based on the
greater of the proportion of current year sales to total
of current and estimated future sales for the title or the
straight-line method over the remaining estimated use-
ful life of the title. The Company continually evaluates
the recoverability of capitalized software costs and will
charge to cost of sales any amounts that are deemed
unrecoverable or for projects that it will abandon.

The following table provides the details of capital-
ized software development costs:

Year Ended October 31,

2002 2001
Beginning balance ........... ... $ 9,739 $ 7,668
Additions. ............ ... 9,645 6,293
Amortization . ... ... L. (7,633) (3,780)
Reclassification ................. (1,419) —
Write-down . ........ ... .. ... ... (490) (389)
Foreignexchange ......... ... ... 543 (53)
Endingbalance .. ............ ... $10,385 $ 9,739

For the year ended October 31, 2001, capitalized
software development costs of $389 were written off
as cost of sales—software development costs, as part
of the impairment charge as described in Note 3. Amor-
tization of capitalized software development costs
amounted to $1,451 during fiscal year 2000. No capital-
ized software development costs were written down
during fiscal year 2000.

Amounts relating to intellectual property rights for
several products and technologies, which were not
developed internally, amounting to $2,195 gross carry-
ing amount, have been reclassified to intangible assets
in all periods presented.
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{Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Property and Equipment

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures and auto-
mobiles are depreciated using the straight-line method
over thejr estimated lives ranging from five to seven
years. Computer equipment and software are depreci-
ated using the straight-line method over three years.
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser
of the term of the related lease or estimated useful
lives. Accumulated amortization includes the amorti-
zation of assets recorded under capital leases, which
amounted to approximately $92 and $202 at October
31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The cost of additions
and betterments are capitalized, and repairs and main-
tenance costs are charged to operations in the periods
incurred. When depreciable assets are retired or sold,
the cost and related allowances for depreciation are
removed from the accounts and the gain or loss is
recognized. The carrying amounts of these assets
are recorded at historical cost.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of identifiable intangibles
and the remaining excess purchase price paid over
identified intangible and tangible net assets of acquired
companies (goodwill). Effective November 1, 2001,
we adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations”
("SFAS 141"} in its entirety and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” {"SFAS 142"). SFAS 141 requires
all business combinations be accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting and that certain intan-
gible assets acquired in a business combination shall
be recognized as assets apart from goodwill. SFAS 142
addresses the recognition and measurement of good-
will and other intangible assets subsequent to their
acquisition. SFAS 142 provides that intangible assets
with finite useful lives be amortized and that intangible
assets with indefinite lives and goodwill not be amor-
tized. The Company discontinued the amortization of
goodwill as of November 1, 2001. Identifiable intangi-
bles are amortized under the straight-line method over
the period of expected benefit ranging from three to
ten years, except for intellectual property, which is
amortized based on the shorter of the useful life or
expected revenue stream. Prior to November 1, 2001,
intangible assets were amortized under the straight-line
method over the period of expected benefit of seven
years for the acquisition of development studios and
ten years for the acquisition of distribution operations.
Upon completion of the transitional impairment test,
the fair value for each of our reporting units exceeded
the reporting unit's carrying amount and no impairment
was indicated.

SFAS 142 requires an annual test for impairment of
goodwill, and between annual tests if events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carry-
ing amount. In assessing potential impairment of good-
will, the Company determines the implied fair value of
each reporting unit using discounted cash flow analysis

3
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

and compares such values to the respective reporting
unit’s carrying amount. The Company performs its
annual test for indication of goodwill impairment in
the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. At October 31,
2002, the fair value of the Company's reporting units
exceeded the carrying amounts and no impairment
was indicated.

impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in
accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 121, "Accounting for Impair-
ment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to
Be Disposed Of" (“SFAS 121"). SFAS 121 requires that
long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
The Company compares the carrying amount of the
asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the asset. If the carry-
ing amount of the asset exceeds estimated expected
undiscounted future cash flows, the Company records
an impairment charge for the difference between the
carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. The
estimation of fair value is generally measured by dis-
counting expected future cash flows at the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate or fair value if available.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for its employee stock
option plans in accordance with Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued
to Employees” ("APB 25”). Under APB 25, generally
no compensation expense is recorded when the terms
of the award are fixed and the exercise price of the
employee stock option equals or exceeds the fair
value of the underlying stock on the date of grant.
The Company adopted the disclosure-only provisions
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
{"SFAS 123").

MNet income (Loss) per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS”) is computed by
dividing the net income (loss) applicable to common
stockholders for the year by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted EPS is computed by dividing the net income
(loss) applicable to common stockholders for the year
by the weighted average number of common and com-
mon stock equivalents, which include common shares
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and war-
rants outstanding during the year. Common stock
equivalents are excluded from the computation if
their effect is antidilutive.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) represents the change
in net assets of a business enterprise during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances
from non-owner sources. Comprehensive income (loss)
of the Company includes net income adjusted for the




change in foreign currency translation adjustments and
the change in net unrealized gain (loss) from investments.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred taxes under the
asset and liability method of accounting for income
taxes. Under the asset and liability method, deferred
income taxes are recognized for differences between
the financial statement and tax bases of assets and lia-
bilities at currently enacted statutory tax rates for the
years in which the differences are expected to reverse.
The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. In addition, valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amounts expected to be realized.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company's foreign
operations is the applicable local currency. Accounts of
foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars using
quarter or year-end exchange rates for assets and liabil-
ities at the balance sheet date and average prevailing
exchange rates for the period for revenue and expense
accounts. Adjustments resulting from translation are
included in other comprehensive income (loss). Realized
and unrealized transaction gains and losses are included
in income in the period in which they occur.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial
instruments, including cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, approximate fair value because of their short
maturities. The carrying amount of prepaid royalties
and investments approximate fair value based upon
the recoverability of these assets. The carrying amount
of the Company’s lines of credit approximates fair value
because the interest rates of the lines of credit are
based on floating rates identified by reference to mar-
ket rates. The carrying amounts of the Company’s loan
payable and capital lease obligations approximate
the fair value of such instruments based upon manage-
ment’s best estimate of interest rates that would be
available to the Company for similar debt obligations
at October 31, 2001.

Consideration Given to Customers or Resellers

In November 2001, the Financial Accounting Stand-
ards Board (“FASB") Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF")
reached a consensus on EITF Issue 01-09, “Accounting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to @ Customer or
Reseller of the Vendor's Products,” which is a codification
of EITF 00-14, 00-22 and 00-25. This EITF presumes that
consideration from a vendor to a customer or reseller
of the vendor's products to be a reduction of the selling
prices of the vendor's products and, therefore, should
be characterized as a reduction of revenue when rec-
ognized in the vendor’s income statement and could
lead to negative revenue under certain circumstances.
Revenue reduction is required unless consideration
relates to a separate identifiable benefit and the bene-
fit's fair value can be established. The Company has

early adopted EITF 01-09 effective November 1, 2001.
The adoption of the new standard did not have a mate-
rial impact on the consclidated financial statements.
The prior period financial statements have been reclas-
sified in accordance with this statement and as a result,
net sales and selling and marketing expenses have
been reduced by $2,255 for the year ended October 31,
2001, with no impact on reported net loss.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, “Accounting
for Obligations Associated with the Retirement of Long-
Lived Assets” ("SFAS 143"). The objective of SFAS 143
is to provide accounting guidance for legal obligations
associated with the retirement of long-lived assets. The
retirement obligations included within the scope of this
pronouncement are those that an entity cannot avoid as
a result of either the acquisition, construction or normal
operation of a long-lived asset. Components of larger
systems also fall under this pronouncement, as well as
tangible long-lived assets with indeterminable lives. The
provisions of SFAS 143 are effective for financial state-
ments issued for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002. The Company is currently evaluating the expected
impact of the adoption of SFAS 143 on the Company's
financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.
The Company will adopt the standard in the first quarter
of fiscal 2003.

In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”
("SFAS 144"). The objectives of SFAS 144 are to address
significant issues relating to the implementation of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121,
"Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of" ("SFAS
121") and to develop a single accounting model, based
on the framework established in SFAS 121, for the long-
lived assets to be disposed of by sale, whether previ-
ously held and used or newly acquired. The provisions
of SFAS 144 are effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. The
Company is currently evaluating the expected impact
of the adoption of SFAS 144 on the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations. The Company will
adopt the standard in the first quarter of fiscal 2003,

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards No. 145, "Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment to FASB
Staterment No. 13, and Technical Corrections” ("SFAS
145"). SFAS 145 eliminates the requirement (in SFAS
No. 4) that gains and losses from the extinguishments
of debt be aggregated and classified as extraordinary
iterns, net of the related income tax. The rescission
of SFAS No. 4 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after May 15, 2002, which for the Company would be
November 1, 2002. Upon adoption, the $1,948 loss on
extinguishment of debt that was previously classified
as an extraordinary item will be reclassified to non-
operating expenses. The Company does not expect
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

that the rescission of SFAS No. 4 will have a material
impact on the Company's financial condition, cash
flows or results of operations.

In July 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 146, "Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” ("SFAS
146"). SFAS 146 requires the recognition of such costs
when they are incurred rather than at the date of a com-
mitment to an exit or disposal plan. The provisions of
SFAS 146 are to be applied prospectively to exit or
disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002.
The Company is currently evaluating the expected
impact of the adoption of SFAS 146 on the Company's
financial condition and results of operations.

3. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS (See Note 4)

The Company acquired a number of companies
that develop, publish or distribute interactive software
games during the three-year period ended October 31,
2002. The aggregate purchase price, including cash
payments and issuance of its common stock was $6,801,
$28,143 and $65,388 in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respec-
tively. The value of the Company’s common stock issued
in connection with these acquisitions has been based
on the market price of the Company's common stock
at the time such proposed transactions were agreed
and announced.

The acquisitions described below have been
accounted for as purchase transactions in accordance
with APB No. 16 and SFAS 141 (for transactions after
July 1, 2001) and, accordingly, the results of operations
and financial position of the acquired businesses are
included in the Company’s consolidated financial state-
ments from the respective dates of acquisition.

2002 Transaction

In August 2002, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding capital stock of Barking Dog Studios Ltd., a
Canadian-based development studio. In consideration,

the Company issued 242,450 shares of restricted com-
mon stock (valued at $3,801), paid $3,000 in cash and
$825 of prepaid royalties and assumed net liabilities of
$70. In connection with the acquisition, the Company
recorded identifiable intangibles of $2,200 and good-
will of $5,496 on a preliminary basis. The acquisition

of Barking Dog did not have a significant effect on our
fiscal 2002 operating results.

2001 Transactions

In July 2001, the Company acquired all of the out-
standing capital stock of Techcorp Limited (“"Techcorp™),
a Hong Kong-based design and engineering firm spe-
cializing in video game accessories. In consideration,
the Company issued 30,000 shares of the Company’s
restricted common stock (valued at $572), paid $100
in cash and assumed net liabilities of approximately
$2,856. In connection with the acquisition, the Company
recorded goodwill of $3,558.

In November 2000, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding capital stock of VLM Entertainment Group,
Inc. (“VLM"), a company engaged in the distribution of
third-party software products. In connection with this
transaction, the Company paid the former stockholders
of VLM $2,000 in cash and issued 875,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock (valued at $8,039) and
assumed net liabilities of approximately $10,627. in
connection with this transaction, the Company recorded
intangible assets of approximately $20,693.

In connection with the sale of Toga Holdings BV
("Toga") to Gameplay.com plc (“Gameplay”) in October
2000, the Company agreed to acquire Gameplay's game
software development and publishing business, Neo
Software Produktions GMBH (“Neo"). Such acquisition
was completed in January of 2001 and the Company
assumed net liabilities of $808, in addition to the pre-
paid purchase price of $17,266. In connection with the
acquisition, the Company recorded goodwill and intan-
gibles of $18,183. See Note 4 for further discussion of
this transaction.

The following table sets forth the components of the purchase price of the 2001 acquisitions:

Neo VLM Techcorp Total
Cost of the acquisition:
Value of business sold (Prepaid purchase price—Neo) or stock issued .. ... ... $17,266 | $ 8,039 $ 572 $ 25,877
Cash. .o e — 2,000 100 2,100
TransaCtioON COSES . . ..ottt e et e e 109 27 30 166
Total. $17,375 $ 10,066 $ 702 $28,143
Allocation of purchase price:
CUITENT BSSELS . . .\ oo e ottt et e e et $ 2% 9852 $ 894 $10,748
NON-CUITENt @SSETS . . . oo 71 201 498 770
Liabilities . ..o o (881) (20,680) (4,248) (25,809)
Goodwill .o 8,207 12,416 3,558 24,181
CUStOmMEr lists . . . oo — 8,277 — 8,277
Technology . ... 8,037 — — 8,037
Trademarks ... . 1,939 — — 1,939
< 1 $17,375 | $10,066 $ 702 $ 28,143
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Certain of Neo's Internet-related technology assets
were determined to be impaired in April 2001. Accord-
ingly, the Company recorded as cost of sales an impair-
ment charge of $3,786, consisting of $2,350 relating to
server maintenance technologies and $1,047 relating to
multiplayer technologies developed by Neo's develop-
ment studio in connection with Online Pirates and $389
of capitalized software relating to other products to be
developed by Neoc. In addition, the Company recorded
as selling and marketing expenses an impairment
charge of $401 related to online sales promotions.

2000 Transactions

In August 2000, the Company acquired all of the
outstanding capital stock of PopTop Software, Inc.
("PopTop") for 559,100 shares of its common stock
(valued at $5,8368) and assumed net liabilities of
approximately $88.

In February 1999, the Company purchased a
19.9% equity interest in Gathering of Developers, Ltd.

("Gathering") for approximately $3,964. Until October
31, 1999, the Company recognized its proportionate
share of the losses in Gathering using the equity method
of accounting. Effective November 1, 1999, the Company
recognized its share of losses in accordance with the
provisions of EITF 99-10, "Percentage Used to Deter-
mine the Amount of Equity Method Losses.” In April
2000, the Company acquired the remaining 80.1% of
the equity interest of Gathering for 1,060,000 shares

of its common stock (valued at $10,402) and assumed
liabilities of approximately $2,540.

In March 2000, the Company acquired all of the out-
standing capital stock of Toga, the parent company of
Pixel Broadband Studios, Ltd. ("Pixel”). In connection
with this acquisition, the Company paid $4,458 in cash,
issued 2,561,000 shares of its common stock (valued at
$38,578), issued a warrant to purchase the stock of Pixel
to the founder of Pixel (valued at $1,750) and assumed
net liabilities of approximately $3,279. Toga was sold in
October 2000 to Gameplay (See Note 4).

The following table sets forth the components of the purchase prices of the 2000 acquisitions (net of the disposi-

tion of Toga):

Gathering | PopTop Toga Total
Cost of the acquisition:
Value of stockissued .. ...... .. ... ... . L $10,402 $5,836 $38,578 | $54,816
Value of warrantsissued . .. ... ... .. .. ... . ... ... .. .. — — 1,750 1,750
Cash ... — — 4,458 4,458
Investrents and advances at time of acquisition ... ... .. 3,964 — — 3,964
Transaction costs. ... .. ot 48 32 320 400
Total, ... $14,414 $5,868 $45,106 $ 65,388
Allocation of purchase price:
CUITENT 8SSEES . . oo oottt $ 4,063 $ — $ — | % 4063
NON-CUMeNnt @ssets . .. ..o oo 72 &6 — 138
Liabilities . . ... .. (6,675) (154) (3,279) (10,108)
Goodwill ... 8,128 5110 — 13,238
Trademarks . ... .. .. 8,826 846 — 9,672
Prepaid purchase price—Neo . ................. .. ... — — 17,266 17,266
Gameplay investment. . ... ... .. o — — 31,119 31,19
Total. ... $14,.414 $5,868 $45,106 | $ 65,388

Unaudited Pro Forma Information

The unaudited pro forma data below for the years ended October 31, 2001 and 2000 is presented as if purchase
acquisitions for fiscal 2000 and 2001 had been made as of November 1, 1999. The unaudited pro forma financial
information is based on management’s estimates and assumptions and does not purport to represent the results that
actually would have occurred if the acquisitions had, in fact, been completed on the dates assumed, or which may
result in the future. The unaudited pro forma financial information includes purchase acquisitions that are significant
to the Company’s operations. The 2002 acquisition of Barking Dog was not significant.

Unaudited Pro Forma

October 31, | October 31,
2001 2000
Total FEVEIMUES © . . ottt $456,411 $424,809
(Loss) income before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . . . $ (4,079 $ 1,187
Net (loss) income per share—Basic. . . ... ... i $ (012 $ 003
Net (loss) income per share—Diluted . .. ... . ... $ (0.12) $ 003

Included in the unaudited pro forma information is amortization of goodwill of approximately $7,320 and $7,744,
net of taxes of $2,799 and $3,081, for the years ended October 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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4. DISPOSITION QOF ASSETS

In July 2001, the Company sold all of the outstanding
capital stock of Jack of All Games UK, a video game
distributor, to Jay Two Limited, an unaffiliated third party
controlled by Freightmasters Ltd., for approximately
$215. In connection with the sale, the purchaser assumed
net liabilities of $434. The Company recorded a non-
operating gain of $651. There were no income taxes
payable on this gain.

In October 2000, the Company sold all of the out-
standing shares of Toga to Gameplay and simultane-
ously entered into a license agreement with Gameplay
for the online distribution of certain of the Company's
PC games. Toga had been purchased in March 2000
(See Note 3). The Corpany received (i) 15,371,698
shares of Gameplay's common stock (valued at approx-
imately $31,100); (i) a warrant to purchase 1,000,000
shares of Gameplay stock {the Company assigned
no value to the warrant); and (iii) a joint exploitation
agreement with Gameplay under which the Company
acquired rights to the software development business
of Neo—a subsidiary of Gameplay (valued at approxi-
mately $17,300). The value of such right was recorded
as prepaid purchase price at the time of Toga's sale and
was included in intangible assets at October 31, 2000.

The Company recognized a loss of $286 on the
sale of Toga, which was recorded as a component of
"Gain on sale of subsidiary” on the 2000 Consolidated
Statemnent of Operations. In January 2001, the Company
completed the acquisition of Neo and assumed net
liabilities of approximately $808, in addition to the
prepaid purchase price of $17,266 noted above.

In June 2000, the Company sold its 19.9% equity
interest in Bungie Software (“Bungie”) to Microsoft
Corporation for approximately $5,000 in cash. The
Company did not realize any gain or loss on this trans-
action. Separately, the Company sold its exclusive Halo
publishing and distribution rights to Bungie for $4,000
in cash, a royalty-free license to Bungie's Halo technol-
ogy in connection with the development of two original
products and all right, title and interest to the Myth
franchise and the PC and PlayStation 2 game, Oni.

The Company recorded this transaction as net sales
of $5,500 after giving effect to the receipt of $9,000 in
cash and $5,800 of assets (consisting of $2,800 relating
to Oni, $1,500 relating to Myth and $1,500 relating to
the license to use Halo game engine technology for
two original products), net of $9,300 of assets sold.

In February 2000, the Company sold all of its interest
in Falcon Ventures Corporation d/b/a DVDWave.com to
eUniverse, Inc. ("eUniverse”) in exchange for 310,000
shares of eUniverse’'s common stock. The Company
recognized a gain of $1,976 and recorded such gain as
a component of “Gain on sale of subsidiary” on the
Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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(continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

As a result of the adoption of SFAS 142, the Company
discontinued the amortization of goodwill effective
November 1, 2001. The only addition to goodwill in
2002 was the $5,496 related to the Barking Dog acquisi-
tion. Identifiable intangible assets are amortized under
the straight-line method over the period of expected
benefit ranging from three to ten years, except for
intellectual property, which is amortized based on the
shorter of the useful life or expected revenue stream.
The Company re-characterized acquired workforce of
$925, which is no longer defined as an acquired intangi-
ble asset under SFAS 141, as goodwill. Additionally, the
estimated useful lives of certain identifiable intangible
assets were adjusted in conjunction with the adoption
of SFAS 142. The adjustment to the useful lives did not
have a significant effect on the results of operations.

Intangible assets consist of trademarks, intellectual
property, customer lists, acquired technology and
the excess purchase price paid over identified intan-
gible and tangible net assets of acquired companies
{goodwill).

In May 2002, the Company acquired all right, title
and interest to the Max Payne product franchise, includ-
ing all of the intellectual property rights associated
with the brand, and a perpetual, royalty-free license to
use the Max Payne game engine and related technol-
ogy. The purchase price consisted of $10,000 in cash
and 969,932 shares of restricted common stock (valued
at $18,543). In addition, the Company is contingently
liable to make aggregate payments of up to $8,000 in
cash upon the timely delivery of the final version of
Max Payne 2 for the PC and the achievement of certain
sales targets for such product. On a preliminary basis,
the Max Payne assets acquired have been recorded as
intellectual property and included in intangible assets.
The additional $8,000 will be recorded as an additional
intangible asset upon resolution of the contingency.

In December 2000, the Company acquired the exclu-
sive worldwide publishing rights to the franchise of
Duke Nukem PC and video games. In connection with
the transaction, the Company paid $2,300 in cash and
issued 557,103 shares of its common stock (valued at
approximately $5,400). In addition, the Company is con-
tingently liable to make a further payment of $6,000 upon
delivery of the final version of Duke Nukem Forever for
the PC. The Company recorded an intangible asset of
$7,700 related to the intellectual property purchased in
this transaction. The additional $6,000 will be recorded
as an additional intangible asset upon resolution of
the contingency.




The following table sets forth the components of the intangible assets subject to amortization as of October 31,
2002 and 2001:

As of October 31, 2002 As of October 31, 2001
Gross Gross
Range of  Carrying | Accumulated Carrying | Accumulated
Useful Life  Amount | Amortization Net Amount | Amortization Net
Trademarks . ............ . ... .. 7-10years  $23,342 $ (4,515) $18,827 $13,922 $(2,312) $11,610
Customer lists and relationships. .. 5-10 years 9,081 (2,352) 6,729 9,081 (1,068) 8,013
Intellectual property ......... ... 2- 6years 27,271 (4,369) 22,902 10,722 (300 10,422
Non-competition agreements . ... 3- éyears 4,880 (906} 3,974 — — —
Jechnology ........... ... ... .. 3 years 4,640 (1,779) 2,861 4,640 (348) 4,292
$69,214 $(13,921) $55,293 $38,365 $(4,028) $34,337

Amounts relating to intellectual property rights for several products and technologies that were not developed
internally, amounting to $2,195 gross carrying amount, have been reclassified from capitalized software development
costs to intangible assets for all periods and included in the above table.

Amortization expense (including goodwill for 2001 and 2000) for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 amounted to $9,893, $9,309 and $6,919, respectively.

Estimated amortization expense for the fiscal years ending October 31 are as follows:

2008 . $ 4,244
2004 3,826
200, 3,789
2006 . e 3,553
2007 3,475
TOtal . o $18,887

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income for exclusion of goodwill amortization:

Years Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss)—as reported. . . ... .. .. e $71,565 | $(8,580) | $6,417
Add: Goodwill amortization, net of taxes . .. .. ... e — 4,116 2,123
Net income (loss)—as adjusted. .. ... ... . 71,565 4,464) 8,540
Add: Extraordinary loss on early extinguishmentofdebt .. ...... ... ... .. . o —_ (1,948) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, netoftaxes. . ......... ... ......... — (5,337) —
Income (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle—as adjusted. .. .. ... .. .. $71,565 | $2,821 $8,540
Income (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle—as reported. . ... .. Lo $71,565 | $(1,295) | $6,417
Earnings (loss) per share:
Reported earnings (loss) per share—basic . . ... ... o $ 1.88 | $(0.25 | $0.23
Add: Goedwill amortization, netoftaxes . .. ... ... — 0.12 0.08
Adjusted earnings (loss) per share—basic. ....... ... .. ..o o 1.88 0.13) 0.31
Add: Extraordinary loss on early extinguishmentofdebt ......... ... .. ... L — (0.06) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .. .......... .. .. ... ... ... ..., — 0.16) —
Adjusted income (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle per share—basic. .......... ... ... .. ... . L $ 1.88 | $ 008 | $03n
Reported income {loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle per share—basic. . .............. ... ... . oo $ 1.88 | $(004) | $023
Reported earnings (loss) per share—diluted. ... ... ... ... $ 1.81 | $(025 | $023-
Add: Goodwill amortization, net of taxes . .. ... ... . . — 0.12 0.07
Adjusted earnings (loss) per share—diluted . . ........ ... .. . o oo 1.81 0.13) 0.30
Add: Extraordinary loss on early extinguishmentof debt . ... ... ... oL — (0.06) —
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............ ... ... ... ... ... .. — 0.18) —

Adjusted income (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle per share—diluted .. ............ .. ... ... . ... $ 181 ] % 008 | $030

Reported income (loss) before extraordinary loss and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle per share—diluted ... ......... ... ... ... . ... $

-

.81 | $(004 | $023
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

6. INVESTMENTS

Investments are comprised of marketable equity
securities and are classified as current and non-current
assets. The investments are accounted for under the
cost method as "available-for-sale” in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities.” The investments are stated at fair value,
with unrealized appreciation (loss) reported as a sepa-
rate component of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) in stockholders’ equity.

During 2001, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $21,477, consisting of approximately $19,171
relating to its investment in Gameplay, $2,000 relating
to its investment in eUniverse, Inc. based on the quoted
market prices and $306 relating to its investment in a
privately-held company, which is included in other non-
current assets. All of these investments were deemed
to be other than temporarily impaired. In addition, the
Company recorded unrealized gains and losses on its
remaining investments through other comprehensive
income (loss).

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, investments
consist of:

2002 2001
Non- Nan-
Current | Current  Current
Average cost . ........... $75 $5,988 $75
Unrealized gains. . ...... .. 22 253 —
Fairvalue ............... $97 $6,241 $75

8. FIXED ASSETS

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, fixed assets
consist of:

2002 2001
Computer equipment .. .......... $ 8,004 | § 5705
Office equipment. .. ............. 3,811 1,583
Computer software . ............. 8,981 4,357
Furniture and fixtures. . . .......... 1,850 1,876
Automobiles. ... oo 219 438
Leasehold improvements. .. ..... .. 3,265 2,209
Capital leases. . ................. 398 398
26,528 16,566

Less: accumulated depreciation

and amortization . ... ... .. .. (11,209) (5,533)
$15,319 | $11,033

In 2002 and 2001, the Company capitalized costs
of approximately $4,113 and $2,800, respectively, asso-
ciated with software and hardware upgrades to its
accounting systems.

Depreciation expense for the years ended October
31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 amounted to $6,457, $3,731,
and $1,761, respectively.

9. LINES OF CREDIT

There were no borrowings outstanding as of
October 31, 2002. As of October 31, 2001, borrowings
under lines of credit consist of:

For the fiscal years ended October 31, 2002 and
2001, the gross proceeds from the sale of investments
were $6,170 and $11, respectively. The gross realized
gain (loss) from these sales totaled $181 and $(69),
respectively. The gain/loss on sale of securities is based
on the average cost of the individual securities sold.

7. INVENTORIES

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, inventories
consist of:

2002 2001
Parts and supplies. .. ... ........... $ 3,221 | § 1,468
Finished products. . ............... 71,170 60,469
$74,391 $61,937
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Line of credit with Bank of America—

(4.94% 10 6.01%) ..o $48,701

Line of credit with Lioyds TSB Bank plc—
(4.5%t05.75%) ... 5,372
$54,073

In December 1999, the Company entered into a
credit agreement, as amended and restated in August
2002, with a group of lenders led by Bank of America,
N.A.,, as agent. The agreement provides for borrowings
of up to $40,000 through the expiration of the line of
credit on August 28, 2005. Generally, advances under
the line of credit are based on a borrowing formula
equal to 75% of eligible accounts receivable plus 35%
of eligible inventory. Interest accrues on such advances
at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.25% to 1.25%, or at
LIBOR plus 2.25% to 2.75% depending on the Company's
consolidated leverage ratio (as defined). The Company
is required to pay a commitment fee to the bank equal
to 0.5% of the unused loan balance. Borrowings under
the line of credit are collateralized by the Company's
accounts receivable, inventory, equipment, general
intangibles, securities and other personal property,
including the capital stock of the Company's domestic
subsidiaries. Borrowings under the agreement are
reduced by the amount of cutstanding letters of credit
which were $5,546 at October 31, 2002. The loan agree-
ment contains certain financial and other covenants,
including the maintenance of consolidated net worth,
consolidated leverage ratio and consolidated fixed




charge coverage ratio. As of October 31, 2002, the
Company was in compliance with such covenants. The
loan agreement limits or prohibits the Company from
declaring or paying cash dividends, merging or consoli-
dating with another corporation, selling assets (other
than in the ordinary course of business), creating liens
and incurring additional indebtedness. The Company
had no outstanding borrowings under the revolving
line of credit as of October 31, 2002.

In February 2007, the Company'’s United Kingdom
subsidiary entered into a credit facility agreement, as
amended in March 2002, with Lioyds TSB Bank plc
{"Lloyds”) under which Lloyds agreed to make available
borrowings of up to approximately $20,500. Advances
under the credit facility bear interest at the rate of
1.25% per annum over the bank’s base rate, and are
guaranteed by the Company. Borrowings under the
agreement are reduced by the amount of outstanding
guarantees, which were $235 at October 31, 2002. The
facility expires on March 31, 2004. The Company had no
outstanding borrowings under this facility as of October
31, 2002.

10. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of
October 31, 2002 and 2001 consist of:

2002 2001

Accrued co-op advertising and
productrebates .. ...... ... ...

Accrued VAT and payroll taxes. ... . ..

Royalties payable .................

$ 3,694 | $ 4514
10,249 5,214
14,784 3,829

Deferred revenue .. .......... ... .. 10,596 748
Sales commissions . ............... 6,248 398
Other. . ... ... ... . 5,503 5,547
Total ... . ... $51,074 | $20,250

11. EXTRAORDINARY LOSS ON EARLY
EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT

In July 2000, the Company entered into a subordi-
nated loan agreement with Finova Mezzanine Capital
Inc. ("Finova") in the principal amount of $15,000. The
loan was payable in full in July 2005, and bore interest
at the rate of 12.5% per annum, payable monthly.

[n connection with the loan, the Company issued to
Finova a five-year warrant to purchase approximately
452,000 shares of common stock exercisable at a price
of $11.875 per share. The warrant was valued at approx-
imately $2,900, using the Black-Scholes pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:
expected volatility of 55.0%; a risk-free interest rate of
6.1%; dividend rate of 0.0% and an expected term of
5.2 years. Subject to the outstanding loan balance, the
warrant entitled Finova to receive additional shares of
the Company’s common stock for three consecutive
years commencing July 2003, and contained certain

anti-dilution provisions. The Company had recorded
the loan net of a discount of approximately $2,900 to
reflect an allocation of the proceeds to the estimated
value of the warrant. The discount was amortized using
the “interest method” over the term of the financing.

In July 2001, the Company prepaid the outstanding
subordinated loan and recorded an extraordinary loss
of $1,948, net of $1,217 of income taxes, related to the
deferred financing costs and the unamortized discount
associated with the loan. In accordance with its terms,
the contingent warrant for additional shares of the
Company's common stock was terminated.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital Leases

The Company leases equipment under capital lease
agreements, which extend through fiscal year 2006.
Future minimum lease payments under these capital
leases, and the present value of such payments as of
October 31, 2002 is as follows:

Year Ending Cctober 31:

2003, $129
2004, 128
2005, 78
2006, . . 1
Total minimum lease payments . ............... .. 336
Less: amounts representing interest ... ......... .. (40)
Present value of minimum obligations

under capital leases . .......... ... ... $296

Lease Commitments

The Company leases 29 office and warehouse facili-
ties. The former corporate headquarters are leased
under a non-cancelable operating lease with a company
controlled by the father of the chairman of the board
and expires in March 2004. Rent expense and certain
utility expenses under this lease amounted to $403,
$474, and $419 for the years ended October 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000, respectively. The other offices are under
non-cancelable operating leases expiring at various
times from November 2002 to December 2012. In addi-
tion, the Company has leased certain equipment, furni-
ture and auto leases under non-cancelable operating
leases, which expire through September 2007.

In Septernber 2002, the Company relocated its
principal executive offices to 622 Broadway, New York,
New York. The Company estimates that it will incur
approximately $4,000 in capital expenditures for reno-
vations and leasehold improvements. In connection
with signing a ten-year lease, the Company provided a
standby letter of credit of $1,560, expiring December
31, 2003. As a result of the relocation, during fiscal 2002,
the Company recorded expenses of $514 related to
lease costs with regard to its former executive offices.
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Future minimum rentals required as of October 31,
2002 are as follows:

Years Ending October 31,

2003 . $ 6,318
2004 . 5,388
2005 . 4,520
2006 . 3,630
2007 e 3,671
Thereafter. ... ... .. 10,397
Total minimum lease payments................ 33,924

LLess minimum rentals to be received
undersubleases. .. ... ... ... ... ... (135)
$33,789

Rent expense amounted to $5,090, $3,353, and
$2,303 for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001,
and 2000, respectively.

Legal and Other Proceedings

In October 2002, the United States District Court for
the Southern District of New York granted final approval
of an agreement to settle a consolidated class action
lawsuit entitled Gershon Bassman v. Teke-Two Interactive
Software, Inc. for $7,500 in cash. During the year ended
October 31, 2002, the Company recorded $1,468 of
class action settlement costs, which represents the set-
tlement of $7,500 and related legal fees, net of $6,145
of insurance proceeds, which were paid and received
during the three months ended October 31, 2002.

In July 2002, the Company settled all ordinary course
of business litigation with Red Storm Entertainment
Inc., a subsidiary of Ubi Soft Entertainment, including
certain claims resulting from a distribution agreement.
During the year ended October 31, 2002, the Company
recorded $3,064 in cost of sales—product costs and
$1,190 in general and administrative costs related to
this settlement.

The Securities and Exchange Commission has
issued a formal order of investigation into, among
other things, certain accounting matters relating to the
Company's financial statements, periodic reporting and
internal accounting control provisions of the federal
securities laws.

The Company is involved in routine litigation in the
ordinary course of its business, which in management's
opinion will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company's financial condition, cash flows or results
of operations.

Other

The Company periodically enters into agreements
that require the Company to make minimum guaran-
teed payments. During the year ended October 31,
2002, the Company entered into distribution agree-
ments under which the Company purchases various
software games. These agreements, which expire
between April 1, 2003 and September 30, 2004, require

@ TAKE-TWO 2002

minimum guaranteed aggregate payments of $13,595 at
October 31, 2002. These agreements are collateralized
by standby letters of credit of $3,986 at October 31,
2002. Additionally, assuming performance by third-party
developers, the Company has outstanding commit-
ments under various software development agree-
ments to pay developers an aggregate of $19,129
during fiscal 2003.

In connection with the Company's acquisition of the
publishing rights to the franchise of Duke Nukem PC
and video games in December 2000, the Company
is contingently obligated to pay $6,000 in cash upon
delivery of the final version of Duke Nukem Forever for
the PC. In addition, in connection with the Company’s
acquisition of the Max Payne product franchise, the
Cempany is contingently liable to meake aggregate pay-
ments of up to $8,000 in cash upon the timely delivery
of the final version of Max Payne 2 for the PC and the
achievement of certain sales targets for such product.
The payables will be recorded when the contingencies
are resolved.

13. EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLAN

The Company maintains a 401(k) retirement savings
plan and trust (the "401(k) Plan"). The 401(k) Plan is
offered to ll eligible employees and participants may
make voluntary contributions. The Company did not
match employee contributions during the years ended
October 31, 2001 and 2000. The Company began
matching contributions in July 2002. The matching
contribution expense incurred by the Company during
the year ended October 31, 2002 was $95.

14. INCOME TAXES

The Company is subject to foreign withholding taxes
in certain countries where it does business. Domestic
and foreign income (loss) before income taxes, extraor-
dinary loss and cumulative effect of change in account-

ing principle is as follows:
Years Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Domestic . ........... $115,082 | $(29,322) | $(5,507)
Foreign.............. 5,866 25,827 14,468
Total ... $120,948 | $ (3,495 | $ 8,961

Income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:

Years Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Current:
Federal............ $ 35275 | % — 1% —
State and local . ... .. 4,381 500 500
Foreign............ 3,025 5,607 3,345
Deferred. . ........... 6,702 (8,307) (1,301)
Total . ............... $ 49,383 | § (2,200 | $ 2,544




The differences between the provision for income
taxes and the income tax computed using the U.S.
statutory federal income tax rate to pretax income
are as follows:

Years Ended QOctober 31,

2002 2001 2000

Statutory federal tax
expense (benefit) .. ... ...
Changes in expenses
resulting from:
State taxes, net of

$42,332 | $(1,223) | $3,136

federal benefit. .. ... . 4,096 (652) 369
Foreign tax expense

differential ... ... . ... 568 (3,433) (1,359)
Goodwill and intan-

gible amortization . . . . 513 1,656 592
Other permanent items. . 1,874 123 (194)
Impairment of

intangibles.. . .... .. — 1,329 —

Income tax

expense {(benefit) .. ... .. $49,383 | $(2,200) | $2,544

The components of the net deferred tax asset as of
October 31, 2002 and 2001 consists of the following:

2002 2001
Current:
Deferred tax asset:
Sales and related allowances. ... $ 5,008 $ 6,533
Unrealized (gains) losses . ... ... —_ (96)
Tax credit carryforward. ... ... .. — 479
Depreciation and amortization . . 384 762
Net operating loss carryforward . . — 14,573
Total current deferred tax assets . . . . . 5,392 22,251
Non-current deferred tax asset—
Capital loss carryforward . ... ... .. 7,983 7,946
Non-current deferred tax liability—
Capitalized software. . ... ... .. .. (3,885) 4,515)
Net deferred tax asset. .. .......... $ 9,490 $25,682

The net operating loss carryforward at October 31,
2001 was utilized during the year ended October 31,
2002. Included in the net operating loss carryforward in
2001 was $9,500 tax benefit for stock option exercises
from 2001 and 2000 that had not been utilized.

At October 31, 2002, the Company had capital loss
carryforwards totaling approximately $21,000. The capi-
tal loss carryforwards expire in fiscal 2006. Failure to
achieve sufficient levels of taxable income from capital
transactions might affect the ultimate realization of
the capital loss carryforwards. If this were to occur,

management is committed to implementing tax plan-
ning strategies, such as the sale of net appreciated
assets of the Company, to the extent required (if any)
to generate sufficient taxable income prior to the
expiration of these benefits.

The total amount of undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries for income tax purposes was approximately
$41,900 and $36,000 for the years ended October 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively. It is the Company's inten-
tion to reinvest undistributed earnings of its foreign
subsidiaries and thereby indefinitely postpone their
remittance. Accordingly, no provision has been made
for foreign withholding taxes or United States income
taxes which may become payable if undistributed earn-
ings of foreign subsidiaries were paid as dividends to
the Company.

15. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

In July 2001, the Company issued 1,300,000 shares
of common stock in a private placement to institutional
investors and received proceeds of $20,892, net of $1,400
of selling commissions and offering expenses.

in April and July 2000, the Company issued an aggre-
gate 2,422,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
in private placements to institutional investors and
received proceeds of $21,285, net of commissions and
offering expenses of $2,432.

In July 2000, the Company incurred & charge of $1,103
relating to an abandoned offering of a subsidiary.

In February 2001, certain stockholders of the
Company exchanged and surrendered for cancellation
564,212 shares of the Company’s common stock
(valued at $7,310) for shares of Gameplay having an
equal value.

In October 2000, a stockholder of the Company
exchanged and surrendered for cancellation 98,000
shares of the Company's common stock (valued at
$1,250) for shares of Gameplay having an equal value.

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, there are outstand-
ing common stock purchase warrants for an aggregate
of 30,000 and 128,000 shares of the Company's common
stock, respectively, at prices ranging from $5.625 to
$9.00 and expiring from 2003 to 2005.

In February 2002, the Company issued 20,000 shares
of restricted common stock to a former employee in
connection with a separation agreement.

In March 2002, the Company issued 50,000 shares
of restricted common stock to an employee as
compensation.
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMERNTS (continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

16. COMPREHENSIVYE INCOME

The components of and changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are:

Foreign Net Unrealized | Accumulated Other
Currency Gain (Loss) on Comprehensive
Adjustments Investments income (Loss)
Balance at November 1,1999 ... ......... . ... .. $ (827) 5§ — $ (827
Comprehensive income changes during the year,
netoftaxesof $1,736. ... .. ... ... ... . ... .. ($,014) (2,831) (11,845)
Balance at October 31,2000 ... ... ... ... ... .. (3,841} (2,831) (12,672)
Comprehensive income changes during the year,
netoftaxes of $1,832. . .. ... ... ... ... .. (767) 2,987 2220
Balance at October 31,2001 . ... ... ... ... ... .. (10,608) 156 (10,452)
Comprehensive income changes during the year,
netoftaxesof $87 ... ... ... . ... L 5,553 (142) 5411
Balance at October 31,2002 . ... . ......... ... $(5,055) $ 14 $(5,041)

The taxes in the above table relate to the changes in the net unrealized gain (loss} on investments. The foreign
currency adjustmeants are not adjusted for income taxes as they relate to indefinite investments in non-U.S. subsidiaries.

17. INCENTIVE PLANS

Stock Option Plans

In June 2002, the stockholders of the Company
approved the Company’s 2002 Stock Option Plan,
as previously adopted by the Company's Board of
Directors (the "2002 Plan”), pursuant to which officers,
directors, employees and consultants of the Company
may receive stock options to purchase up to an aggre-
gate of 3,000,000 shares of common stock.

In January 1997, the stockholders of the Company
approved the Company's 1997 Stock Option Plan, as
amended, as previously adopted by the Company’s
Board of Directors (the “1997 Plan"), pursuant to which
officers, directors, employees and consultants of the
Company may receive options to purchase up to
an aggregate of 6,500,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock.

Subject to the provisions of the plans, the Board of
Directors or any Committee appointed by the Board
of Directors, has the authority to determine the individ-
uals to whom the stock options are to be granted, the
number of shares to be covered by each option, the
option price, the type of option, the option period,
restrictions, if any, on the exercise of the option, the
terms for the payment of the option price and other
terms and conditions. As of April 30, 2002, there were
no options available for grant under the 1997 Plan.

36) .
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As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, the plans had out-
standing stock options for an aggregate of 2,764,000
and 2,631,000 shares of the Company’s common stock,
respectively, vesting at various times from 1998 to
2005 and expiring at various times from 2002 to 2007.
Options granted generally vest over a period of three
to five years.

Non-Plan Stock Options

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, there are non-plan
stock options outstanding for an aggregate of 2,931,000
and 1,848,000 shares of the Company's common stock,
respectively, vesting from 1999 to 2005 and expiring at
various times from 2003 to 2007.

For those options with exercise prices less than fair
value of the underlying shares at the measurement date,
the difference is recorded as deferred compensation
and is amortized over the vesting period. Compensa-
tion expense for the years ended October 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000 was approximately $1,976, $5, and
$43, respectively.




The following table summarizes the activity in options under the plans inclusive of non-plan options:

Shares Weighted Average
(in thousands) Exercise Price
Options outstanding—November 1,1999. ... .................... 3,725 $ 696
Granted—exercise price equal tofairvalue ... ... ... ... . ... 2,073 $10.14
Granted—exercise price less than fairvalue .. .............. ... ... 14 $ 823
Exercised. ... ... (1,270) $ 6.44
Forfeited . ... .. (343) $ 589
Options outstanding—Qctober 31,2000, .. .................. ... 4,199 $ 872
Granted—exercise price equal to fairvalue .............. .. .... 3,351 $ 994
Granted—exercise price less thanfairvalue . ........ .. ... .. ... .. 500 $ 13.91
Exercised. .. .. (3,327) $ 9.00
Forfeited .. ... (244) $ 10.09
Options outstanding—October 31,2001, .. .. ... ... ..... . ..... 4,479 $ 993
Granted—exercise price equal to fairvalue ........ ... ... ... . ... 3,950 $16.40
Granted—exercise price less than fairvalue .. ................. ... 30 $ 0.01
Exercised. . .. . (2,494) $ 1043
Forfeited . . .. ... (270) $12.3
Options outstanding—October 31,2002 . ..................... 5,695 $13.96

At October 31, 2002 and 2007, the number of options exercisable are 3,014,000 and 2,113,000, respectively, and
their related weighted average exercise prices are $12.56 and $9.67, respectively.
The following summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at October 31, 2002:

Average

Weighted Remaining

Shares Average Contractual

Range of Exercise Prices (in thousands) | Exercise Price Life {years)
$001-8 51875 .. 46 $ 384 1.69
$550-8 989 .. 860 $ 849 3.00
$10.00-8314.86 . ... ... . 2,303 $11.22 3.43
$15.25-819.55 . .. 2,335 $ 18.15 4.35
$2059-8328.84 . ... ... 151 § 25.01 4,74
Options outstanding—October 31, 2002, . ... .. ... ... .. 5,695 $13.96 3.76
$0.01-% 51875 ... 46 $ 384 1.69
$550-3 989 ... ... 675 $ 8.54 2.88
$10.00-$14.86 . . ... ... 1,369 $11.19 3.29
$15.25-819.55 . . 832 $ 17.26 3.86
$20.59-828.84 . . ... ... 92 $ 2449 4.77
Options exercisable—October 31,2002 .. ... ... .. .. .. 3,014 $12.56 3.38

Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock option plan been determined based on the fair value at the
grant date for awards in 2002, 2001 and 2000 consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net
income and the net income per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below.

Years Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000

Net income {loss)

Asreported ... $71,565 | $ (8,580) | $6,417

Proforma. .. $62,574 | $(14,942) | § (427)
Net income (loss) per share

Asreported—BasiC. . ... .. $ 188 | $ (025 | $023

Pro forma—BasiC. . o .ot $ 165 | $ (044) | $002

Asreported—Diluted . ... L o $ 181 [ § (025 | $023

Pro forma—Diluted . .. ... $ 158 | % (044 | $(0.02

The pro forma disclosures shown are not representative of the effects on net income and the net income per
share in future years.

The fair value of the Company’s stock options used to compute pro forma net income and the net income per
share disclosures is the estimated present value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
The weighted average fair values of options granted were $9.13, $5.76 and $5.78 for years ended October 31, 2002,
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TAKE-TWO INTERACTIVE SOFTWARE, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
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2001 and 2000, respectively. The following weighted average assumptions for 2002 were used to value grants:
expected volatility of 74%; a risk-free interest rate of 1.77%; and an expected holding period of 4.1 years. The follow-
ing weighted average assumptions for 2001 were used to value grants: expected volatility of 85% for grants with a
holding period of 2 years, 79% for a holding period of 3 years and 75% for holding periods of 4 to 5 years; a risk-free
interest rate of generally 4.85% to 5.0%; and an expected holding period of two to five years. The following weighted
average assumptions were used to value grants for 2000; expected volatility of 96% for grants with a holding period
of two years, and expected volatility of 60% for grants with a holding period of three to four years and 65% for hold-
ing periods of five years or more; a risk-free interest rate of generally 5.5% to 6.7%; and an expected holding period
of two to five years.

18. RESULTS BY QUARTER (UNAUDITED)

The following tables set forth quarterly supplementary data for each of the years in the two-year period ended
October 31, 2002.

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2002
Netsales............ ... ... ........... $282,926 $170,330 $122,461 $218,259
Grossprofit, . ... 103,461 63,655 45,882 83,036
Netincome. .. .. ... . .. ... . $ 34,829 $ 9,637 $ 4,766 $ 22,333
Per share data:

BasicEPS ... ... ... ... $ 0.95 $ 0.26 $ 0.12 S 0.56

Diluted EPS. ... ... ... .. ... ... ... $ 0.92 $ 0.25 $ 0.12 $ 0.54
2001
Netsales. ......... ... ... .......... ... $ 157,591 $ 88,179 $ 81,327 $ 121,704
Grossprofit... ... .. 53,331 30,783 31,715 26,708
Income (loss) before extraordinary item and

cumulative effect of adopting SAB 101 . . .. 13,569 (11,467) 1,283 (4,680)
Extraordinary loss, net of taxes . ...... ... .. — — (1,948) —
Cumulative effect of adopting SAB 101 ... .. (5,337) — — —
Netincome (foss) . ... ... .. .. ... ... .. $ 8232 $ (11,467) $ (665) $  (4,680)
Per share data:

BasicEPS ... ... .. $ 0.25 $ 0.35) 3 0.02 $ 0.13)

Diluted EPS. .. ... .. ... ... .. $ 0.25 $ (0.35) $ 0.02 $ ©.13)

19. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments
of an Enterprise and Related Information” (“SFAS 131”), which established standards for reporting by public business
enterprises of information about product lines, geographical areas and major customers. The method for determin-
ing what information to report is based on the way management organizes the Company for making operational
decisions and assessment of financial performance. The Company’'s chief operating decision maker is considered to
be the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"). The CEQ reviews financial information presented on a consoli-
dated basis accompanied by disaggregated information about sales by geographic region and by product platforms.
The Company's Board of Directors reviews consolidated financial information. The Company’s operations employ the
same products, cost structures, margins and customers worldwide. The Company's product development, publishing
and marketing activities are centralized in the United States under one management team, with distribution activities
managed geographically. Accordingly, the Company's operations fall within one reportable segment as defined in
SFAS 131.

For the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, the Company's net sales in domestic markets accounted
for approximately 79.9%, 76.3% and 71.6%, respectively, and net sales in international markets accounted for 20.1%,
23.7%, and 28.4%, respectively.

As of October 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s net property, plant and equipment in domestic markets accounted
for approximately $11,222 and $7,710, respectively, and net property, plant and equipment in international markets
accounted for $4,097 and $3,323, respectively.

Information about the Company’s total non-current assets in the United States and international areas as of

October 31, 2002 and 2001 are presented below:

2002 2001
Total non-current assets:

United States .. .. .. .. .. $ 98,849 | $ 81,297

international
United Kingdom. ... ... oo 20,505 21,128
All other Europe. . . ... 17,685 21,405
Other ... 26,036 8,347
$163,075 | $132,177
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Information about the Company’s net sales in the United States and international areas for the years ended
October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are presented below (net sales are attributed to geographic areas based on
product destination):

2002 2001 2000
Net sales:

United States. . .. oo oo $605,766 | $322,155 | $250,278
Canada . ... .o 28,965 20,080 10,408

International
United Kingdom ... .. .. 47,021 32,227 25,968
All other Burope ... . .. .. 98,490 61,187 60,814
Asia Pacific. .. .. 12,593 12,478 15,505
Other. .. 1,141 674 1,028
$793,976 | $448,801 | $364,001

Information about the Company’s net sales by product platforms for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 are presented below:

2002 2001 2000
Platforms:

Sony PlayStation 2. . ... $472,797 | $129.548 | $ 29,374
Sony PlayStation . ... ... .. . 58,666 74,642 76,353
Microsoft Xbox ... .. .. 54,097 2,423 —
P 102,643 103,154 89,927
Nintendo Game Boy Color, Game Boy Advance and 64. . ........ .. 20,331 37,519 58,919
Nintendo GameCube . ... ... .. .. . .. ... .. .. .. 17,745 — —
SegaDreamcast .. ...... .. ... 1,600 11,301 . 20,991
ACCESSOMIES . . ottt 31,706 31,467 29178
Hardware. . ... .. 34,391 58,747 59,259

$793,976 | $448,801 | $364,001

20. NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY LOSS AND CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE PER SHARE

The following table provides a reconciliation of basic earnings per share to diluted earnings per share for the
years ended October 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.

Income {Loss) Before
Extraordinary Loss and
Cumulative Effect

of Change in Shares Per Share
Accounting Principle (in thousands) Amount

Year Ended October 31, 2002

BaSIC. $71,565 38,030 $1.88
Effect of dilutive securities—Stock options and warrants. . . . — 1,540 —
Diluted. . o $71,565 39,570 $1.81
Year Ended October 31, 2001
Basicand Diluted . .......... .. ... $ (1,295) 33,961 $(0.04)
Year Ended October 31, 2000
BaSIC. o o $ 6417 27,307 $023
Effect of dilutive securities—Stock options and warrants. . . . — 1,023 —
Diluted. .. . $ 6417 28,330 $0.23

The computation for diluted number of shares excludes those unexercised stock options and warrants which are
antidilutive. The number of such shares was 143,000, 222,000, and 73,000 for the years ended October 31, 2002, 2001,
and 2000, respectively.

21. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In November 2002, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Angel Studios, Inc., the developer
of Midnight Club and Smuggler’s Run for 235,679 shares of restricted common stock (valued at $6,557) and $28,500
in cash. The Company is in the process of completing the purchase price allocation.
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REPORT DOF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and
Shareholders of Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Take-Two Interactive Software, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“the Company”) at October 31, 2002 and October 31, 2001,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended October 31,
2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2, effective November 1, 2001, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Finan-
cial Accounting Standards No. 141, "Business Combinations” in its entirety and Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Accordingly, the Company discontinued the amortiza-
tion of goodwill as of that date. Also, as discussed in Note 2, effective November 1, 2000, the Company changed
its method of accounting for revenue recognition to conform to the requirements of SEC Staff Bulletin No. 101,
“Revenue Recognition.”

/ﬁééewWW@ww P v

New York, New York
December 19, 2002
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